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          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Good morning,

          3  and welcome to City Hall.  My name is Joel Rivera.

          4  I'm the Chair of the Health Committee.  I want to

          5  thank my Council Members that will be joining us

          6  very shortly.  We have budget negotiating taking

          7  place simultaneously here in City Hall but they will

          8  be up here.

          9                 Today we will be discussing and

         10  having an important hearing on the topic of

         11  childhood obesity and how it's been affecting the

         12  City of New York.  Being overweight or obese can

         13  have a serious affect on a person's health.  Obesity

         14  is a known risk factor for many conditions including

         15  diabetes, heart disease, stroke and some forms of

         16  cancer such as breast cancer, colon rectal cancer

         17  and kidney cancer.

         18                 Obesity is also associated with high

         19  cholesterol, psychological disorders such as

         20  depression, lost of self esteem and increased

         21  surgical risk.  Of the many causes of obesity, the

         22  main cause is the consumption of extra calories

         23  combined with little to no physical activity.

         24                 However, there is evidence that other

         25  attributable causes of obesity are larger portion
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          2  sizes, increased consumption of sugar sweetened

          3  drinks which obviously slows down your metabolism,

          4  more time engaging in sedentary activities such as

          5  watching tv and fear of crime which prevent people

          6  from engaging in outdoor physical activities.

          7                 According to the Journal of American

          8  Medical Association, in 2003 to 2004 17% of children

          9  in adolescence between the ages of two and nineteen

         10  ears of age were overweight or obese and 32% of

         11  adults, which is over 66 million people, were obese

         12  in the U.S.  According to the New York City

         13  Department of Health and Mental Hygiene,

         14  approximately 1 million New Yorkers are obese.

         15  That's 1 in 8 which is about 1 in every 5 New York

         16  City residents.

         17                 Unfortunately, the numbers are worse

         18  when they come to our youth.  A whopping 43% of New

         19  York City elementary public school children are

         20  overweight with 24% who are obese.  Moreover,

         21  studies show that childhood obesity is one of the

         22  biggest indicators of adult obesity.  In 2002, the

         23  New York State Department of Health estimated that

         24  the United States spend over 117 billion dollars in

         25  medical treatment for obese patients with New York
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          2  State's cost totaling over 6 billion dollars.

          3                 It's time that we focus and think

          4  about how the government can play a role in reducing

          5  these health care costs and, more importantly, how

          6  we can promote health living among our city

          7  residents in innovative ways.

          8                 Today we are here to better

          9  understand what services are being offered

         10  throughout this City to comprehensively address the

         11  needs of the obese, improve access to healthy foods

         12  and physical activity and determine what is being

         13  done to stop the obesity epidemic.  Particularly

         14  among those most at risk which include women, the

         15  poor elderly, Latinos and African Americans.

         16                 I know we have the Department of

         17  Health and Mental Hygiene here.  We have the

         18  Assistant Commissioner Lynn Silver is here with us

         19  today.  If she can please come forward and she will

         20  be joined by Candace Young from the Department of

         21  Health and Mental Hygiene.

         22                 Thank you very much ladies.  Just

         23  state your names and titles for the record and you

         24  may begin with your testimony. Press the button, it

         25  has to off to be on.
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          2                 Is that on?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Yes it is.

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  Good

          5  afternoon Chairperson Rivera and Members of the

          6  Health Committee.  I'm Dr. Lynn Silver, Assistant

          7  Commissioner for the Bureau of Chronic Disease

          8  Prevention at the Department of Health and Mental

          9  Hygiene. On behalf of Commissioner Frieden, I would

         10  like to thank you for the opportunity to discuss

         11  what we consider to be, and as you have just

         12  mentioned, the public health emergency.

         13                 In today's presentation- and I'm also

         14  accompanied, I'm sorry, by Candice Young, the

         15  Director of our Physical Activity and Nutrition

         16  Program.  In today's presentation I will identify

         17  and assess the obesity epidemic in New York City;

         18  describe initiatives of the Department of Health and

         19  Mental Hygiene and fellow agencies; and identify and

         20  describe several of the challenges the city faces in

         21  stemming this epidemic.

         22                 Over the past decade in the United

         23  States, the number of people classified as

         24  overweight or obese has reached epidemic

         25  proportions.  We're distributing a few slides in
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          2  addition to the testimony that have some graphics on

          3  this.

          4                 Between 1991 and 2001, obesity levels

          5  nearly doubled among adults in the United States

          6  increasing from 12 to 21 percent. In New York City,

          7  in 2004, 1 in 5 adults is obese and more than half

          8  of adults, 56%, are either obese or overweight.

          9                 Obesity begins early.  21% of New

         10  York City kindergarten children are obese.  1 in 4

         11  pre- school children enrolled in headstart centers

         12  is obese.  In adults, we define obesity using the

         13  body- mass index which is a measure of body fat in

         14  relation to height and weight.  A person with a BMI

         15  above 30 is considered is obese.  Overweight is

         16  defined as a BMI of 25 to 29.9.

         17                 To illustrate, for a person who is 5

         18  foot 7, the upper limit of a healthy BMI would be

         19  159 pounds.  Overweight would be from 159 to 191

         20  pounds and obese above 191 pounds.  For children,

         21  it's a bit more complicated. These ranges are

         22  calculated in relation to the distribution of

         23  weights and heights for their age- of the BMI for

         24  their age and sex.

         25                 The overweight and obese are in
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          2  increased risk of diabetes, heart disease, stroke,

          3  high blood pressure, arthritis and cancer.  Recent

          4  research indicates that obesity shortens the life

          5  span by at least four to nine months and if

          6  childhood obesity continues to rise, it could

          7  decrease the average life- span significantly.

          8                 The Centers for Disease Control and

          9  Prevention data show that if rates of obesity

         10  continue unabated, 1 in 3 children and a staggering

         11  1 in 2 Hispanic children born in the year 2000 will

         12  develop diabetes in their lifetime.  Obesity is

         13  second only to tobacco as a cause of preventable

         14  death.  Fortunately, obesity is preventable and if

         15  obesity rates decrease so too will their associated

         16  chronic disease and deaths.

         17                 While increases in obesity affect all

         18  population groups regardless of age, income, gender,

         19  race and ethnicity, not all groups face equal risk.

         20  Obesity increases with age and is more common among

         21  older adults, women, Hispanics, African Americans

         22  and the poor.  New York City adult obesity rates are

         23  highest in our low income neighborhoods.  1 in 3

         24  adults were obese in 2004 in these neighborhoods.

         25  Low income children in New York City are at greater
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          2  risk for obesity and parental obesity more than

          3  doubles the risk of children under 10 becoming obese

          4  in adulthood.  Childhood obesity in New York City

          5  appears to be significantly higher than nation wide

          6  rates.

          7                 While individual behaviors contribute

          8  to the individual's risk for obesity, the rapid

          9  increase in obesity over such a short time span

         10  indicates that environmental factors have created

         11  conditions conducive to overweight and obesity.  In

         12  response to the documented disparity in health and

         13  poverty in New York City, DOHMH in 2003 established

         14  district public health offices in the South Bronx,

         15  East and Central Harlem and Central Brooklyn. DPHO's

         16  represent communities disproportionately affected by

         17  health disparities with more than one- third of the

         18  population living in poverty.  The DPHO areas

         19  exhibit the highest rates of obesity, diabetes,

         20  diabetes hospitalizations compared with the rest of

         21  the City.  For this reason, the Department targets

         22  many of its interventions to these geographic areas.

         23                 I'd like to address first physical

         24  activity which as you cited as one of the two key

         25  approaches to the obesity epidemic. Let me turn to
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          2  the Department's current efforts to promote physical

          3  activity.  Because obesity begins as young as age

          4  two, early childhood interventions are increasingly

          5  important.  We've expanded training in physical

          6  activity and nutrition for early childhood educators

          7  through the Sports, Play and Active Recreation for

          8  Kids program known as SPARK which has been cited in

          9  the Surgeon General's Report on Physical Activity

         10  and Health as a school based solution to America's

         11  growing obesity crisis.  Since 2004, more than 2000

         12  staff from school- based pre- K programs, day care

         13  centers, and after- school programs in our targeted

         14  DPHO neighborhoods have been trained and equipped to

         15  implement SPARK.  All school- based pre- K teachers

         16  in DPHO neighborhoods were trained in 2005 through

         17  2006 and efforts will expand the reach of this

         18  program to all pre- K teachers Citywide over the

         19  next two years.

         20                 This program has been a great success

         21  and with the needed support we would take it to all

         22  day care center Citywide as well as all pre- K

         23  through second grade teachers.  We thank the City

         24  Council for your interest and support in these

         25  activities.
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          2                 Beginning with kindergarten in the

          3  regular public school system beginning with

          4  kindergarten, students participate in Physical Best,

          5  a new physical fitness curriculum that's focused on

          6  promoting fitness rather than competitive sports and

          7  the New York City Fitnessgram assessment which is a

          8  core K- 12 health related fitness assessment aligned

          9  with state and national standards for physical

         10  education.  To date, nearly 600 elementary schools

         11  and 40 secondary school have incorporated these into

         12  their physical education programs.  Both programs

         13  provide a central data for use in tracking fitness

         14  levels over the course of a child's experience in

         15  the school system and will make it possible for

         16  parents to receive information on their child's

         17  fitness level.

         18                 After school programs are also being

         19  expanded in the middle school level as part of the

         20  Cooperative Healthy Active Motivated Positive

         21  Students, also known as CHAMPS, middle school sports

         22  and fitness programs.  CHAMPS emphasizes fitness

         23  activities and both non- traditional and traditional

         24  sports activities.  Since it's inception two years

         25  ago, there are now more than 1,000 programs in more
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          2  than 200 middle schools participating in CHAMPS.

          3                 In the fall of 2005, DOHMH trained 12

          4  Parent Activity Coordinators in the Peaceful

          5  Playgrounds program in SPARK and the Asphalt Green

          6  Recess Enhancement Program to facilitate physical

          7  activity during recess before and after school.

          8  PACs facilitate active play and organized games with

          9  elementary school children and involve and train

         10  other parent volunteers and staff in the program.

         11                 With further funding this pilot can

         12  serve as a model program for school aides to

         13  increase active recreation among students during

         14  recess and on the playground.

         15                 Shape Up New York is a family fitness

         16  program implemented and coordinated by our DPHOs and

         17  sponsored, in part, by the City's Department of

         18  Parks and Recreation.  Offered free of charge at

         19  parks, community centers and housing sites, this

         20  program is designed to encourage the development of

         21  healthy lifestyles and improve participant self-

         22  esteem through energizing physical activity in a

         23  non- competitive environment.  Last year 11 Shape Up

         24  New York community sites in Brooklyn, Harlem and the

         25  Bronx received more than 31,000 site visits.
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          2

          3                 A collaboration among the New York

          4  City Department of Parks and Recreation, the New

          5  York City Commission on Women's Issues, the YMCA and

          6  the Police Athletic League, Step Out encourages

          7  residents to participate in family and community

          8  oriented walks ranging from one to three miles at 80

          9  locations throughout the City.  Pedometers are

         10  distributed so that participants can keep note of

         11  their steps and track their progression throughout

         12  the summer.

         13                 While New York City is already a more

         14  walkable City than much of the United States, much

         15  more can be done to make the City more conducive to

         16  physical activity.  The Department of Hygiene and

         17  Mental Health has partnered with the American

         18  Institute of Architects and recently hosted the Fit

         19  City Conference to examine and debate the ways and

         20  means of increasing physical activity through design

         21  and architectural interventions.  The conference

         22  brought together public health professionals,

         23  architects, landscape architects and urban planners

         24  to address both building, site and neighborhood

         25  scale design issues that can increase physical
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          2  activity thereby helping to reduce chronic illness

          3  associated with obesity and inactivity such as

          4  diabetes and heart disease.

          5                 The Department of Health and Mental

          6  Hygiene strongly encourages the incorporation of

          7  such measures into all planning and decision- making

          8  processes and is initiating broader work on these

          9  issues.

         10                 I'll speak now to the issues of

         11  nutrition.  In addition to enhancing physical

         12  activity, the Department of Health and Mental

         13  Hygiene has undertaken a number of school and

         14  community based nutrition initiatives aimed at

         15  increasing access to healthful foods and helping

         16  consumers make informed decisions.  To promote

         17  healthy nutrition to school- age children, the

         18  Department of Education's Office of School Food with

         19  support from the Department of Health and Mental

         20  Hygiene developed comprehensive nutritional

         21  standards for the New York City School Meal Program

         22  which serves over 800,000 meals daily.

         23                 New York City school lunches exceed

         24  the standards set by the USDA with lower fat and

         25  sodium content, greater emphasis on whole wheat,
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          2  greater availability of fresh or frozen fruits and

          3  vegetables.  Whole milk has also been replaced with

          4  1% milk, skim milk and skim chocolate milk.

          5  Improvement is on- going as contracts are

          6  renegotiated for the food items.

          7                 DOHMH also produces materials to

          8  guide individuals in making healthier choices

          9  coinciding with back to school time, over 600,000

         10  free "Helping Children Reach a Healthy Weight"

         11  booklets and magnets in English and Spanish were

         12  provided for all elementary school children and

         13  their parents Citywide.  I believe you're also

         14  receiving a copy of that.  We'll make those

         15  available to the Council.  Teen Speak is a guide

         16  that was developed for and by teens on getting fit

         17  and has been distributed throughout the DPHO

         18  neighborhoods and are available for Citywide

         19  distribution through 311.  They will be distributed

         20  this year to all enrolling middle and high school

         21  students this fall.

         22                 Access to affordable, healthy foods

         23  is also vital to supporting community health.  Lack

         24  of healthy food options at the local level and the

         25  generally lower cost of unhealthy foods contributes
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          2  to high obesity rates in the City's most

          3  impoverished neighborhoods.  A recent survey study

          4  performed by the Brooklyn District Public Health

          5  office found that small grocery stores, such as

          6  bodegas, are the most common food retailers serving

          7  community residents and most do not offer a variety

          8  of affordable nutritious foods such as low- fat

          9  milk, whole grains or fresh or frozen produce.

         10                 To begin to address this issue, DOHMH

         11  has partnered with the Bodega Association of the

         12  United States based in Washington Heights to

         13  increase access to affordable healthy food in

         14  bodegas.  The Healthy Bodegas campaign was launched

         15  in January 2006 with the pilot "Moooove to 1% Milk"

         16  campaign.  I think there's a poster in your packet

         17  as well.  The pilot encouraged New York City

         18  residents to switch from whole or 2% milk to low-

         19  fat 1% milk and promoted the availability of 1% milk

         20  in bodegas.  Preliminary data indicate that the

         21  bodegas were able to stock and increase the sales of

         22  healthier alternatives.  We plan to roll out this

         23  campaign to more than 500 bodegas and community

         24  sites citywide this summer.

         25                 We also began small- scale
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          2  collaborations with supermarket chains to promote 1%

          3  milk and hope to expand this work to find additional

          4  approaches to promote better nutrition with

          5  supermarkets.

          6                 To promote fruit and vegetable

          7  consumption in low income neighborhoods, DOHMH will

          8  launch the Health Bucks program this summer in each

          9  DPHO.    Health Bucks are $2 coupons distributed to

         10  community members in the DPHO neighborhoods as an

         11  incentive for residents to use food stamps to

         12  purchase regionally grown produce at local farmer's

         13  market.  Additional themes to be introduced is part

         14  of the Healthy Bodegas campaign including increasing

         15  consumption of fruits and vegetables through a

         16  partnership with the local and regional farmers and

         17  distributors and encouraging people to switch to low

         18  calory beverages.

         19                 The restaurant environment has also

         20  had a significant impact on New Yorkers' food

         21  consumption and the overall nutritional value of

         22  their diet.  National surveys show that Americans

         23  spend almost half of their food dollars eating out.

         24  One third of daily caloric intake comes from foods

         25  purchased in restaurants and other food service
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          2  establishments.  Thirty percent of Americans age

          3  four to nineteen years consume fast food daily and

          4  it is not uncommon for a single fast food restaurant

          5  entre to provide more than half of the maximum daily

          6  trans fat for example.

          7                 Over the next two years we hope to

          8  expand our work with New York City restaurants to

          9  reduce the caloric density of meals and serve

         10  healthier options to patrons.

         11                 Dietary trans fat, while not

         12  affecting obesity directly, increases the risk of

         13  heart disease by elevating LDL or bad cholesterol

         14  and lower HDL or good cholesterol.  As a result, the

         15  Institute of Medicine concluded that there is no

         16  safe level of trans fat consumption in contrast to

         17  other dietary fats which when consumed in moderation

         18  are part of a healthy diet.  Because feasible and

         19  healthy replacements exists for the most common

         20  sources of trans fat, the continued presence of

         21  artificial trans fat in restaurant food is

         22  unnecessary and poses a significant risk for heart

         23  disease for all of our City residents.

         24                 In June 2005, the Department launched

         25  the Trans Fat Education Campaign.  We urged all New
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          2  York City food service establishments to voluntarily

          3  remove artificial trans fat from their foods.  This

          4  effort was supported by extensive educational

          5  outreach to food suppliers, consumers and

          6  restaurateurs and continues as an on- going

          7  collaboration with the DOHMH Food Safety Bureau.  We

          8  look forward to continuing to work with New York

          9  City restaurants to demonstrate that good taste and

         10  good health can be one and the same.

         11                 Let me close briefly by discussing

         12  one of the most serious consequences of the rapidly

         13  increasing obesity epidemic: Diabetes.  The

         14  Department recently established a diabetes registry

         15  to help- or rather an A1C registry to help

         16  individuals with diabetes and their health care

         17  providers better manage their disease.  As part of

         18  the registry, the City's health code now requires

         19  most laboratories to report the results of all A1C

         20  blood tests to the Department of Health and Mental

         21  Hygiene.  The A1C is a blood test for people with

         22  diabetes measuring average blood sugar levels over

         23  three months and is used by providers and patients

         24  to monitor and change diabetes treatment plans.

         25                 Properly controlling A1C levels helps
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          2  prevent complications of diabetes such as heart,

          3  eye, kidney and nerve disease.  Working with

          4  providers and patients, DOHMH will use the

          5  information in the registry to develop programs

          6  aimed at improving the quality of care and quality

          7  of life among New Yorkers with diabetes.  These

          8  registry- related programs may include providing

          9  health care providers and their patients with

         10  information about their A1C levels and guidance on

         11  diabetes management as well as community resources

         12  for physical activity and nutrition and it also

         13  includes sending information to all mothers who gave

         14  birth after pregnancies affected by gestational

         15  diabetes.  Usually these are obese mothers in

         16  general though not always.

         17                 In summary, we are facing a serious

         18  epidemic that is moving rapidly in the wrong

         19  direction.  The future public health impact should

         20  not be under- estimated.  It will affect our Black,

         21  Latino and low income communities most heavily and

         22  it will exacerbate pre- existing disparities in

         23  health.

         24                 We have some reasonably clear ideas

         25  on what to do but they involve significant changes
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          2  in the way we do business in a wide range of areas.

          3  We know that changes in our physical and social

          4  environment have greatly contributed to the obesity

          5  epidemic.  Physical activity must be encouraged.  It

          6  must be easily accessible to our residents and it

          7  must be part of our daily lives. Our food

          8  environment must be improved by increasing the

          9  availability and decreasing the relative cost of

         10  healthy foods, fruits, vegetables and low calory

         11  beverages and decreasing the prominence of junk

         12  food.

         13                 Accomplishing this goal will require

         14  a unity of purpose, significant policy making and

         15  funding and the development of widespread

         16  partnerships between government industry and

         17  communities.  We look forward to partnering with the

         18  Council on many of the initiatives described today

         19  and are happy to answer your questions at this time.

         20    Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you very

         22  much.  First  I want to say thank you on behalf of

         23  the City because I do know that you have some very

         24  fine initiatives moving forward to help tackle this

         25  issue.  One of the main issues that I hear time and
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          2  time again is people who just really don't know how

          3  many calories they should be consuming per day or

          4  actually beyond that how many calories they actually

          5  are consuming per day.  Like you said, over 30 some

          6  odd percent of the people eat fast food very often

          7  and that's a major concern because then one meal in

          8  any fast food restaurant can equal over 1,000

          9  calories.  I believe that- even the other day they

         10  had a report that the salads in some of the health

         11  food restaurants even those have over 1,000 calories

         12  when you add on the salad dressings that are high in

         13  calories; when you have the fact that they're huge

         14  bowls and they have all the extra croutons and stuff

         15  like that.  That increases the calorie content.  I

         16  think one of the main things that we have to do is

         17  be as strong on this as we've been- you know with

         18  the cigarette campaign, the anti- smoking campaign.

         19  There's been commercials on tv talking about the

         20  negative effects of smoking on the human body and

         21  what it actually means in long term.

         22                 We always talk about kids being the

         23  future and this and that and I think that we have to

         24  really make strides.  I know that I'm actually

         25  working on a project now with Dr. Oz.  He's the
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          2  author of "You, the Owner's Manual".  He's been on

          3  Oprah several times and stuff like that.  We're

          4  actually going to be hopefully implementing a

          5  program called "Health Core" which is a pretty good

          6  program that engages kids in the public schools to

          7  get involved in physical activity and help them on

          8  to making sure they have proper diets and proper

          9  activity level.  Have you heard of the program

         10  Health Core?

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  Yes I

         12  have.  I was up there with you, in fact, visiting it

         13  at George Washington High School.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Yeah, it's a

         15  great program.  As a matter of fact, yes, we did- do

         16  you think it's possible for the Department of Health

         17  to allocate funding in the future years to the

         18  Health Core program so that we can incorporate it in

         19  all schools citywide?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  We

         21  have to evaluate it.  We were concerned when Dr. Oz

         22  came to us that the program involved paying a full-

         23  time volunteer for schools and that it might not be

         24  a very sustainable model to bring in these issues to

         25  the school system.  The approach we've been taking
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          2  to date has been to really try and incorporate these

          3  issues into the regular curriculum of the school

          4  through expansion of physical activity in the

          5  schools and a number of phys- ed teachers through

          6  developing a phys- ed curriculum that would address

          7  these issues and incorporating teaching on nutrition

          8  into the regular curriculum.

          9                 So I think it's a good program.  It

         10  might be a hard model to scale up to all 1,200

         11  schools.  It sounds like it's worked well in the

         12  schools where it's been implemented, however, so

         13  we'd be happy to collaborate with them and I was

         14  arranging to meet with some of their volunteers and

         15  try and figure out in what areas we might be able to

         16  collaborate and work together.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Yeah, I think

         18  what he actually has is very innovative in terms of-

         19  we know our kids spent a tremendous amount of time

         20  in front of the tv and playing Playstation, Nintendo

         21  and all the other games but what we saw that day was

         22  great because he actually has a video game console

         23  and in order to play it, you have to be pedaling on

         24  a bike which is great because you're unknowingly

         25  burning calories while playing the game. I got up on

                                                            26

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  it and I'm like "Okay, I want to see how this thing

          3  actually works" and I actually broke out a sweat

          4  playing it without even noticing.  So I think that's

          5  innovative and I think that we should probably

          6  promote stuff like that and probably do something to

          7  tell the parents, "listen, the stuff is affordable".

          8    I believe you can actually get it at Radio Shack,

          9  some of the programs the guy said or something like

         10  that.

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  Now,

         12  we very much agree with you.  Last week the Board of

         13  Health also approved new provisions in the Health

         14  Code that will increase physical activity in day

         15  care centers and actually restrict television use.

         16  Particularly other than television use that actively

         17  promotes physical activity such as that which you're

         18  describing which would be an exception.  We agree.

         19  Those programs are great.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Yeah, I think

         21  there has to be a direct merging in order to tackle

         22  this great issue of obesity in our schools.  There

         23  has to be a merging, I think, of the Department of

         24  Health and Mental Hygiene and Department of

         25  Education on this to make sure that it's a 100%
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          2  collaborative effort.  I do know that physical

          3  activities in the school has decreased over time

          4  where there used to be an emphasis on physical

          5  education.  That has decreased.  So, while we have

          6  the shape of the SPARK program, we have the shape of

          7  the program, we have this Healthy Core which I'm

          8  going to be hopefully introducing to three new

          9  schools next year.

         10                 What are we doing to make sure that

         11  both City agencies are on the same page in reference

         12  to talking this issue?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  I

         14  think we've been able to greatly increase our

         15  coordination.  A few years ago school health became

         16  a joint program between the Department of Education

         17  and the Department of Health which greatly

         18  facilitated coordination.  We actually initiated

         19  some of the proposals to change the physical

         20  activity curriculum and hired a physical activity

         21  coordinator.  Then it went so well that DOH actually

         22  brought her over to DOE, put her in the curriculum

         23  area of DOE so that it's becoming truly integrated

         24  in to the regular curriculum. They've hired fitness

         25  coordinators for all of their regions, I believe,
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          2  and are increasing the hirings for physical activity

          3  professional.

          4                 So, I think things at DOE are moving

          5  in the right direction and we've been working

          6  closely with the Department of Education to achieve

          7  that.  It needs to go further and there's a lot to

          8  be done yet for sure.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Actually, the

         10  other day I was looking at an article.  It's about

         11  New Orleans.  About the redevelopment and what they

         12  are inspiring or looking forward to doing and there

         13  was actually a pretty good quote in there that was

         14  talking about obesity.  It just slipped in there and

         15  they said in order to tackle the issue, they should

         16  outlaw drive- thrus.

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  They

         18  should outlaw-?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  The drive- thru-

         20  the fast food industry.  Drive- thrus have increased

         21  fast food consumption in urban areas.  I know we're

         22  looking at a zoning resolution to make sure that we

         23  can limit the amount of fast food restaurants in the

         24  City of New York and I think that would be a great

         25  movement forward.  What do you think about that?
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  I

          3  think that we should look at zoning, planning,

          4  codes, many of our ways of operating as a city and

          5  take into consideration how can we increase physical

          6  activity- whether it's deciding about where to build

          7  a bike path or about whether to authorize a specific

          8  type of restaurant or food outlet or about where to

          9  put farmer's markets. We should really be looking at

         10  all of these issues of how we plan and operate our

         11  City with an optic of how that will affect obesity

         12  and try and use all of these tools that are at the

         13  disposal of the City to be creative and try and make

         14  this a healthier City.  Zoning is a perfect example

         15  of that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  We've been

         17  joined by Council Member Rosie Mendez.  Thank you

         18  for coming.

         19                 Last but not least.  Presently the

         20  state is considering legislation that would require

         21  annual body mass index testing of public school

         22  children and having the results reported to parents.

         23    In the Department's opinion, would the government

         24  take such an aggressive role in combating obesity?

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  The
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          2  Department of Education is doing exactly that.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Fantastic.

          4  They're doing it annually with the kids?

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  The

          6  Fitnessgram that I mentioned is exactly that so

          7  we're ahead of the state on that. I think they're

          8  actually modeling that legislature after the New

          9  York City program.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  With the BMI it

         11  always mind boggles me.  Arnold Schwarzenegger is

         12  obese.  Arnold Schwarzenegger is obese cause of the

         13  BMI.  How do we test for that because we do have- I

         14  mean how do we actually gauge the numbers properly

         15  and appropriately?

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  I

         17  don't know if he is now or if he used to be.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RIVER:  No, No.  There

         19  was a thing that said because his BMI is about 30.

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  The

         21  body mass index is not really a perfect measure and

         22  particularly for athletes and people who have very

         23  heavy lean muscle masses in relation to most other

         24  people it can classify them incorrectly as obese or

         25  overweight when in reality they have a lot of muscle
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          2  mass.  So it's not perfect.  There are some measures

          3  that have been suggested and that are being studied

          4  as well that have to do with waist circumference and

          5  other measures that some people prefer.   Right now

          6  body mass index, although not perfect, is very

          7  widely used and known by most clinicians.  So, we've

          8  been working with that index. It seems to be a

          9  viable and reasonable, albeit, not perfect.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Well, what about

         11  just using body fat percentages?  Wouldn't that be

         12  just a better gauge to find out- I mean, I know

         13  there's scales and you can use calipers, you can use

         14  some of the new modern skills that send electric

         15  pulse through your body to see how much body fat

         16  percentage you actually have.  Wouldn't that be a

         17  better --?

         18                 MS. YOUNG:  Yes, I'm Candice Young,

         19  Director for Nutrition.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  How are you

         21  doing, Ms. Young.

         22                 MS. YOUNG:  I'm a nutritionist with

         23  the Health Department.

         24                 I would add that body mass index is

         25  the standard metric used not only by the Health
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          2  Department but by national, like the Center for

          3  Disease Control as well as internationally that's

          4  the metric that's used.

          5                 It is just meant to be an indicator

          6  of weight status.  So, when that information is

          7  given out to parents, they should talk with their

          8  provider about a healthy weight range for their

          9  child.  If the child is very, very physically active

         10  and has a lot of muscle mass, as Dr. Silver said,

         11  their BMI might be a little bit higher but your

         12  issue about using body fat percentage, for example,

         13  is something that's just not applicable for

         14  children. It might be for adults but I think right

         15  now BMI is something that is a quick, easy indicator

         16  that can be done in a doctor's office and feedback

         17  given back rapidly to any patient in a medical

         18  setting.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Why is it not

         20  good for children?  Why wouldn't it be?

         21                 MS. YOUNG:  I'm not aware that you

         22  can really even get body fat percentage for children

         23  in the way that you would use calipers, for example.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  What about

         25  electronic devices?
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  You

          3  can use skin fold thickness.

          4                 MS. YOUNG:  Yeah, you can use skin

          5  fold thickness but it's actually very, very rare to

          6  see that used in children. I'm only aware of it

          7  actually being used in developing countries to look

          8  at malnutrition and measure under nutrition.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: I know these-

         10                 MS. YOUNG:  I think because the

         11  children are still in such a high rate of growth.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  I mean, I know

         13  they use it in Minnesota but also just because the

         14  CDC does and then it's a national thing doesn't make

         15  it good.  I mean, we have the food pyramid that

         16  government has been telling us "follow the food

         17  pyramid" and I believe the reason why we're obese is

         18  because of that food pyramid.  They say, have your

         19  high starch breads, have a plate load of pasta, have

         20  this and that and then come long and behold the

         21  reason why we're obese is because we follow the food

         22  pyramid.  We can find an innovative new approach to

         23  determining what is a healthy body measurement with

         24  something that's accurate and easy to understand

         25  because it's hard to explain the BMI why it works,
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          2  why it doesn't work to a parent that really is not

          3  fully understanding of what a BMI really is.

          4  Everybody can understand a body fat percentage.  I

          5  mean, how much fat do you have in your body.  I

          6  think that would be interesting.

          7                 MS. YOUNG:  I think the other issue

          8  is that a lot of children are still in such a high

          9  rate of growth that body fat percentage I'm not sure

         10  that it would be valid.  I think at this point Body

         11  Max Index is applicable because of its feasibility

         12  in our current state.

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:

         14  Height and weight, for example, which are the only

         15  things you need to calculate Body Max Index have

         16  long been routinely measured as part of children's

         17  physical examinations.  So, it uses very feasible

         18  and traditional measurements.  We thought about

         19  whether we should go with other measurements and

         20  basically decided that that probably wasn't a battle

         21  that was worth taking on.  The central message of

         22  obesity was that we might just create confusion

         23  around measurement as opposed to addressing the key

         24  issue.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Alright.
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          2  Another question. The Speaker has gone on the record

          3  about developing a Mayoral Office on nutrition and

          4  hunger which would insure access to nutritious foods

          5  to all New Yorkers and oversee and coordinate all

          6  food and nutritious programs and initiatives.  With

          7  such an office be a benefit to yours on combating

          8  obesity?

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  The

         10  position of the Mayor's Office at this time I

         11  believe is that they would prefer to see it as a

         12  time limited council or task force to address these

         13  issues rather than as a standing office.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay.  I'm going

         15  to have to excuse myself.  We do have budget

         16  negotiating going on at the same time so my

         17  colleague, Rosie Mendez, has volunteered to take

         18  over temporarily for the duration of the meeting.

         19                 We've been joined by Miguel Martinez,

         20  who's also in budget negotiating and by Councilwoman

         21  Helen Foster.  Miguel came up to get me because we

         22  got to go back downstairs.

         23                 I want to thank you.  Council Member

         24  Liu is also going to be joining us and he'll assume

         25  the position as well.
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          2                 I want to thank you for coming here

          3  today.  We have some very great initiatives we're

          4  collaborating on.  Again, the Spark and the Shape,

          5  Fit NYC and all the different programs; all the

          6  acronyms we have going on.  It's a long road we have

          7  ahead of us and inch by inch hopefully we'll take

          8  those inches off the waist lines.

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  We

         10  look forward to working with you.  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ:  I'm calling

         13  up the second panel.  Dr. Jeremiah Barondess from

         14  the New York Academy of Medicine, Carol Pittman from

         15  NYSNA, Olajide Williams from Columbia University

         16  Harlem Hospital Obesity, Richard Deckelbaum from

         17  CHOW Columbia University Institute of Human

         18  Nutrition and Peter Sheehan, Cabrini Medical Center.

         19                 We need one more.  Five.

         20                 Thank you for being here and whoever

         21  on the panel is ready to testify you can get

         22  started.

         23                 DR. BARONDESS:  I guess that's me.

         24  Good afternoon, Council Member Mendez and the other

         25  Members of the Committee.  I'm Dr. Jeremiah
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          2  Barondess, President of the New York Academy of

          3  Medicine.  The Academy is an independent, non

          4  partisan, not for profit institution and our mission

          5  is enhancing the health of people who live in

          6  cities.

          7                 I appreciate the opportunity to

          8  address you on efforts to respond to the obesity

          9  epidemic and I just want to establish at the outset

         10  my perspective which is that we are talking about a

         11  lethal disorder.  We are talking about a life-

         12  shortening condition.  So, I think this is a very

         13  big and very important matter that goes far beyond

         14  the cosmetic and some of the other things that we

         15  ordinarily think about.

         16                 My remarks will focus primarily on

         17  childhood obesity which, as you've heard from Dr.

         18  Silvers, is a matter of specially significant and

         19  growing concern.

         20                 This disorder is epidemic in all

         21  American cities particularly in New York which has

         22  one of the highest rates in the country.  Evidence

         23  of the epidemic is all around us.  You have only to

         24  walk down a crowded street to make that clear.

         25                 As I say, we're increasingly
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          2  accustomed to considering obesity as a disease and

          3  in a certain sense it is a disease but in a more

          4  complicated way it's a condition.  It's a dangerous

          5  health condition that's not only a disease in its

          6  own right but one that gives rise to numerous

          7  subsequent diseases. Most of them quite serious and

          8  in fact, as I said, life limiting.

          9

         10                 So the first point that I want to

         11  emphasize is that we know the causes of this

         12  condition; we know the ways in which it threatens

         13  health; we know the diseases to which it gives rise

         14  and, in addition, it's increasingly clear that the

         15  basic causes of childhood obesity, which is to say

         16  chronic over nutrition and chronic lack of adequate

         17  physical activity.  Once established in childhood

         18  are very likely to persist into adult life.  Once

         19  they persist into adult life, it's extraordinarily

         20  difficult to disestablish them as habits.

         21                 So, this is a condition that requires

         22  on- going and relentless attention across the life

         23  span.  This is true of many chronic disorders.  It's

         24  especially true of obesity because it's singularly

         25  reversible.
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          2                 This disorder is closely linked not

          3  only with the emergence of chronic diseases as we've

          4  heard from Dr. Silvers such as diabetes and asthma

          5  in childhood and we now have an epidemic of Type 2

          6  diabetes in children but it's also linked to

          7  hypertension, cardiovascular disease, some types of

          8  cancer and osteoarthritis in adulthood.  You might

          9  say it's a case of pay now, pay later.  It's a bad

         10  gift that keeps on giving.

         11                 The growing prevalence of childhood

         12  obesity represents an increased disease burden and

         13  decreased quality of life for millions of Americans

         14  and imposes enormous health care costs.  The annual

         15  medical costs associated with obesity for New York

         16  State alone having been variously estimated between

         17  $3.5 and $6 billion.

         18                 This City, as you've also heard,

         19  faces alarmingly high rates of childhood obesity.

         20  In 2003, a survey of public school children in New

         21  York have 19% were overweight and 24% were frankly

         22  obese.  Earlier this year, a survey found that 27%

         23  of children in New York City Headstart programs are

         24  already obese.  In addition, obesity rates are not

         25  evenly distributed across the population.  They're
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          2  especially high in African American and Hispanic

          3  children in New York and in low income areas

          4  throughout the City.

          5                 As I've said, the causes of obesity

          6  are not mysterious.  At a minimum, increased caloric

          7  intake results from the very widespread, easy

          8  availability and growing consumption of high fat

          9  fast foods and high sugar convenience foods.  We

         10  live in a society that not only makes such food

         11  available, but in a society in which people are

         12  reminded of their availability and, in fact, urged,

         13  pestered to take advantage of them on a daily basis

         14  through a very widespread and nearly incessant

         15  prodding in the form of specially television

         16  advertisements, billboards, ads in the print media

         17  and marketing techniques at the local level that are

         18  extremely powerful.

         19                 All that having been said, it's also

         20  true and I believe more fundamentally important that

         21  all of us are trained how to eat at home.  Home is

         22  where this thing begins.  Family eating patterns,

         23  family menus representing not only food choices but

         24  affordability and culturally determined choices are

         25  of key importance.  We have for decades, in addition
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          2  to this, trained our children to clean their plates

          3  no matter how much food someone else puts on them.

          4  I would maintain that that is patently a crazy thing

          5  to do.

          6                 In many homes, as a matter of fact,

          7  this is virtually a moral matter.  We've allowed

          8  children in addition to become accustomed to eating

          9  until their full as opposed to stopping when they're

         10  no longer hungry or have had enough.  We've promoted

         11  the image of a fat, dimpled baby as a healthy baby,

         12  in fact, an ideal, an impression that increasing

         13  evidence demonstrates is incorrect.

         14                 Beyond the dietary issues, sedentary

         15  life style is already a fact of life for millions of

         16  American children, including very many here in New

         17  York as we've heard.  Television viewing time has

         18  taken the place of active outdoor exercise for a

         19  variety of reasons.  Programming directed at

         20  children is increasingly attractive and in many

         21  instances the tv set functions as a surrogate baby

         22  sitter.  A lack in some communities in the City of

         23  adequate and safe outdoor play space is also a major

         24  factor as is a lack of organized after school

         25  activities focused on physical exercise as we've
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          2  heard.

          3                 This all tells us that the solution

          4  to childhood obesity lies not in a pill or an

          5  injection or in one- shot programs or in isolated

          6  efforts in this or that department of the City.  It

          7  involves teaching and instilling healthy behaviors

          8  essentially training people to save their lives.

          9  Interventions need to focus, of course, on reducing

         10  caloric intake, increasing physical activity and

         11  especially involving parents in both educating about

         12  and modeling these behaviors.  Efforts need to be

         13  coordinated, multi faceted and sustained over long

         14  periods of time.

         15                 While success depends on individuals

         16  learning and adopting healthy behaviors, we all know

         17  as I say this is not as simple as telling people to

         18  eat better and exercise more.

         19                 While schools have an important role

         20  to play in childhood obesity, parental involvement

         21  is absolutely essential. I say it again, for parents

         22  to train their children to eat rationally, to model

         23  that behavior, to train their children to exercise

         24  appropriately and to model that behavior is, I

         25  believe, the sine qua non to long term control of
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          2  this epidemic.

          3                 The key question, of course, is how

          4  City government can play an effective role or a more

          5  effective role in moving us in a direction that has

          6  real impact on the epidemic.  I believe that City

          7  government can play a very powerful and innovative

          8  role in this regard.  It's critically important to

          9  begin in childhood and design efforts, maintain the

         10  pressure over the life span.

         11                 One model I believe would be worth

         12  exploring would involve borough- based,

         13  public/private efforts involving multiple community

         14  entities and multiple municipal departments.  These

         15  consortia focused on the things we know are

         16  important should arise in and be organized within

         17  the boroughs.  They might include, for example,

         18  schools or school district, community- based

         19  organizations, churches, community focus media such

         20  as neighborhood newspapers and radio stations and

         21  health care providers including pediatricians, other

         22  clinicians, hospitals, clinics, nurses,

         23  nutritionists and so on and, very importantly, City

         24  agencies.

         25                 The relevant City agencies, I think,
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          2  would consists at a minimum, of the Department of

          3  Health and Mental Hygiene, the Department of

          4  Products and Recreation, the Department of

          5  Education, the Health and Hospitals Corporation, the

          6  Administration for Children Services, the Department

          7  of Housing and Preservation of Development, the

          8  leadership of the City Council and the Mayor's

          9  office.

         10                 Such an effort initiated and overseen

         11  by a designated City agency to assure coordination

         12  and accountability but administered at the borough

         13  level would fund, this is a suggestion, community-

         14  level consortia fund the consortia in a way that

         15  would bring together several of these entities that

         16  I've mentioned.

         17                 Funding over a period of three or

         18  four years with mandatory evaluations at mid costs

         19  and at the end of the funding period would be

         20  competitively awarded within the boroughs and should

         21  reflect innovative and muscular efforts to get at

         22  the main underpinnings of childhood obesity.

         23                 The emphasis should be on

         24  sustainability and replicability of successful

         25  efforts while altering eating habits in a healthful
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          2  direction, expanding accessibility of healthy foods,

          3  increasing regular physical activity, insuring safe

          4  places for play and exercise, establishing

          5  consistent parental involvement and tailoring

          6  efforts to the particular needs and values of

          7  communities, especially the particular needs of

          8  minority communities.

          9                 Launching an effort of this type

         10  should be informed by the experience of other

         11  communities in conducting coordinated collaborative

         12  initiatives that target childhood obesity.  For

         13  example, the California Endowment has funded six

         14  community collaboratives focusing on various

         15  strategies to improving eating habits, increasing

         16  regular physical activity and affecting policy

         17  change. The California Endowment is a private

         18  statewide health foundation which selected

         19  predominantly low income communities and allocated

         20  $26 million over four years to this effort.

         21                 In this instance, in New York it's

         22  likely that similarly funding at some significant

         23  level, perhaps $1 million annually over three to

         24  four years at each of the five boroughs would

         25  produce a vigorous and innovative set of responses.
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          2  The central point is to promote the emergence of

          3  concerted community focus coordinated and broad

          4  efforts that would include the relevant players

          5  prominent among them those able to engage the

          6  families and other care- givers of our children in

          7  productive partnerships with other elements of our

          8  communities.  I believe that in the emergence of

          9  such efforts City government, including the City

         10  Council, has a vital role to play.

         11                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         12  present these views.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ:  Thank you

         14  very much.  We're going to reserve our questions to

         15  the end of the panel so the next person would like

         16  to start their testimony.

         17                 MS. PITTMAN:  Good afternoon.  My

         18  name is Carol Pittman.  I'm the Community Affairs

         19  Representative for the New York State Nurses

         20  Association which is the oldest and largest union of

         21  registered nurses in New York state.  Representing

         22  some 34,000 nurses statewide including 26,000 who

         23  work in the five boroughs.

         24                 Given that we've heard such fabulous

         25  expert testimony from the previous witnesses, I

                                                            47

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  would like to just go to and most of my testimony is

          3  about childhood obesity specifically. I'd just like

          4  to skip to the portion on page two to just present

          5  some ideas about how we think this situation, the

          6  crisis needs to be handled.

          7                 Over the past few decades, mortality

          8  rates from disease have declined.  Yet, failure to

          9  deal with the problem of obesity will mean premature

         10  death and disability for an increasingly large

         11  segment of New York residents.  Some have predicted

         12  that by 2010 the root causes of the obesity

         13  epidemic, poor nutrition and inadequate physical

         14  activity will be among the leading causes of

         15  preventable deaths in the United States.

         16                 In addition, these conditions and

         17  their associated health problems have a substantial

         18  impact on both direct and indirect health care

         19  costs.  Direct costs are those expenses associated

         20  with preventative diagnostic and treatment services.

         21  Indirect costs refer to lost wages because of

         22  illness or disability plus the loss of future

         23  earnings due to premature death.

         24                 In 2000, the total cost of obesity

         25  was estimated to be $117 billion.  $61 billion
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          2  direct costs and $56 billion indirect.  These costs

          3  have an impact on the health care system and, of

          4  course, on society as a whole.

          5                 Unlike heart disease and cancer,

          6  obesity is clearly preventable.  With the dramatic

          7  increase of this condition among children and the

          8  population as a whole, action is needed now.  What

          9  action should that be?  As is the case with many

         10  public health concerns, NYSNA believes that a multi-

         11  faceted approach would be most effective.  Winning a

         12  war on obesity is a shared responsibility for

         13  government, schools, parents and the health care

         14  community.

         15                 Government:  State and federal

         16  governments can take a more active role in promoting

         17  the public's understanding of the nutritional values

         18  of foods that are sold to the public and insuring

         19  that advertising direct to the children does not

         20  encourage unhealthy eating habits.  There's a need

         21  to detoxify the food environment, an action that is

         22  unlikely to be taken by the food industry itself.

         23                 Government agencies also must insure

         24  that interventions and treatments related to weight

         25  loss are covered by public and private insurance
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          2  plans.  Government can also do more to insure that

          3  there is affordable healthy food in all communities.

          4                 Schools:  Some school districts

          5  already have banned sugary drinks from school

          6  cafeterias and vending machines.  This action and

          7  others like it must be supported by educational

          8  efforts to inform students about good nutrition and

          9  exercise habits and the consequences of obesity.

         10  And of course here we have to also mention the need

         11  for reinstituting regular cardiac exercise on a

         12  school- based level; regular exercise for the

         13  children.  That means at least once a day, not

         14  during recess but actually as physical education.

         15                 Day Care:  With amounting evidence

         16  that obesity is affecting a growing number of pre-

         17  school children, regulations must be developed to

         18  insure that healthy foods and organized physical

         19  activity are provided in licensed day care setting.

         20  Parents must be educated about the value of good

         21  nutrition and daily exercise and supported in their

         22  efforts to encourage a healthy life style for their

         23  children.  They should be informed about the health

         24  implications of too much television watching or

         25  computer use.  This should be done, obviously I
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          2  guess but not always which is why we always

          3  emphasize in a non- judgmental and culturally

          4  sensitive manner.

          5                 Healthcare Providers:  Nurses and

          6  other healthcare professionals must take an active

          7  role in promoting healthy life styles to prevent

          8  childhood obesity.  The National Association of

          9  School Nurses recommends that school nurses take a

         10  leading role in educating students, faculties and

         11  parents; initiating school policies that require

         12  healthy foods; prevent discrimination or abuse of

         13  overweight children and promote health for school

         14  staff. Implementing school- based weight reduction

         15  programs and advocating for daily physical education

         16  at all grade levels.

         17                 Leadership by Example:  Community

         18  leaders, elected officials and local celebrities can

         19  provide leadership by example and inspiration in the

         20  fight against obesity and for a healthy life style.

         21  I'm not just talking here about celebrity

         22  endorsements which usually cost a lot of money and

         23  are sort of a one- shot, two shot deal.  I'm

         24  actually talking about campaigns and there are

         25  several such campaigns in New York City at the
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          2  moment as were outlined by the representative from

          3  the Department of Health.  As a Brooklyn resident,

          4  the one that comes to mind is Brooklyn Borough

          5  President Marty Markowitz' "Lighten Up Brooklyn"

          6  campaign which was initiated in 2002 and which made

          7  a real splash and I think lasted for a couple of

          8  months and I haven't seen any studies about outcomes

          9  but there were some immediate results from that.  I

         10  think that should City Council Members want to

         11  initiate such a campaign or local celebrities or

         12  others community leaders that this can also help

         13  bring these issues to the attention of the public.

         14                 Many New Yorkers do not have regular

         15  access to the healthcare system so obesity

         16  prevention partnerships among healthcare providers,

         17  schools and faith- based groups and community

         18  organizations must be encouraged and supported.

         19  Although individual choices and actions lie at the

         20  foundation of the problem of childhood obesity,

         21  these groups must work together to promote an

         22  environment in which health options for diet and

         23  physical activity are readily accessible.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ:  Before we go
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          2  on to the next person in the panel, I was a little

          3  remiss before.  We've been joined by Council Member

          4  Arroyo and since then Council Member Dickens, Sears,

          5  Clarke, Liu and McMahon.  I'm going to- since we

          6  announced earlier we are in budget negotiations and

          7  many of us are in and out, I have said we would

          8  reserve questions to the end but Council Member

          9  Helen Sears will be leaving and she wanted to ask

         10  some questions before she leaves of the two

         11  individuals who have already given their testimony

         12  so I will allow Council Member Sears.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you

         14  Madam Chair.

         15

         16                 I'm really sorry to do this but we

         17  have a lot and the most important thing is our

         18  budget negotiations are going on and if we don't get

         19  back, some of you may not have the money that you're

         20  looking for so we got to get back.

         21                 I haven't heard all of the testimony

         22  and I won't be able to hear all of it but I have to

         23  say that when I was, and this issue goes back some

         24  time ago.  My anthropology professor, and this is a

         25  while back, one of the problems that we face is not
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          2  just the behavioral and attitudinal, it's the food

          3  industry itself.  There is certain products, since I

          4  had that class sometime back, that I absolutely will

          5  not buy and I advocate people not buying that.  I'm

          6  not advocating a boycott.  The fact is that they are

          7  extremely uncooperative and maybe you might be able

          8  to pull together how we could get the food industry

          9  to just even listen to the healthcare industry and

         10  listen to this Council.  There is a huge block with

         11  that and it is not only obesity, it is the salt

         12  content that we have this attention deficit and one

         13  of the things they should not have is salt.

         14                 Most of the canned products that most

         15  households use are really toxic for what they have

         16  in their contents.  We did a study working on that

         17  PhD. And the industry was absolutely uncooperative.

         18  I do career days as I'm sure many of my colleagues

         19  do.  They can't even stay awake.  Here we are in

         20  elementary and midterm and they can't stay awake.

         21  It's not only the obesity which is a very major

         22  issue.  We're dealing with attention deficit; we're

         23  dealing with actually- this is a country where

         24  people are fed and we have to deal with lack of

         25  nutrition for the food that they are taking in.  The
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          2  reason I wanted to speak is that I think you can be

          3  very helpful, and helpful to the Health Committee,

          4  if you can help us address some of those issues.

          5  It's one thing for the choir to be singing to the

          6  choir.  It's another thing of how can government

          7  work with the private sector and actually be

          8  affective in looking at how we can change a

          9  situation that is extremely detrimental to the

         10  children of this City and I'll deal with this City

         11  although I know it's a nationwide issue.  Perhaps

         12  you might be able to do that.  I think it's one of

         13  the best things that cooperatively we can do.

         14                 I want to thank you very much for

         15  your time and I'm sorry I can't stay for Dr.

         16  Jeremiah's testimony 'cause you'll learn a lot from

         17  him, but thank you very much.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ:  I see that

         19  Council Member Dickens expressed interest and I know

         20  she has to get back down to budget negotiations.  If

         21  you want to ask questions of the two people on the

         22  panel who've already testified.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Thank you so

         24  much Madam Chair and I apologize to all of you that

         25  are here to give testimony and to the Committee
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          2  Members and to those of you in attendance for the

          3  fact that I must leave because of this being the

          4  budget time.

          5                 However, this has been a war cry of

          6  mine ever since I really met Dr. Williams who

          7  explained to me the severity of the obesity

          8  problems.  Our Speaker has taken as a part of one of

          9  her initiatives is to try and increase participation

         10  in a Healthy Breakfast program for pre- K through

         11  middle school.  One part of it that we found in her

         12  Hunger Day, that most of us participated in, is that

         13  the middle school children did not participate in

         14  the breakfast program nor the lunch program because

         15  it was uncool.  As a result we found that in the

         16  pre- K, those children oftentimes did avail

         17  themselves of the breakfast.  But the middle school

         18  children, because it was uncool, did not.

         19                 I'm asking that as part of what you

         20  do is in your studies to try to access how can we

         21  increase or make it so that it is cool for the

         22  middle schools to those ages that are pre- teens to

         23  teenagers that they will participate in the

         24  breakfast and lunch programs so that they can have a

         25  healthy meal which oftentimes is the only healthy
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          2  meal that they really get.  That's one part.

          3                 The other part is that we have to re-

          4  educate families, parents, in addition to re-

          5  educating our children it has to start in the home.

          6  If we do not grasp it there, then all the work that

          7  we may do in school will be negated and will have no

          8  meaning because when we go home we will eat what's

          9  there.  We have to avail ourselves of the various

         10  other vegetables.  I came out of a home that ate

         11  collard greens with fat- back.  So, we have to re

         12  educate ourselves.  We're laughing but that's the

         13  truth.  So, we know that our children- we have fifth

         14  graders that have the beginnings of onset of adult

         15  type 2 diabetes.  Now this means that by the time

         16  that they are 18 and 19, they will begin to loose

         17  limbs and that's unconscionable in a country as

         18  great as ours.

         19                 So, I just put this on the table

         20  because this has been a war cry of mine and I'm

         21  very, very interested and very, very concerned about

         22  this issue about obesity in our children because if

         23  we do not address it now, we're going to make a dent

         24  in the viable youth that we will have as young

         25  adults in the future if we do not stem the tide now.
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          2                 Again, I apologize that I'm speaking

          3  and leaving but do not ever think that I'm deserting

          4  this issue because it's very, very important to me.

          5  Thank you.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ:  Okay.  We're

          7  going to go forward with the testimony of Dr.

          8  Williams and I'm going to turn over the Chairmanship

          9  to Council Member John Liu as I step out for a

         10  minute.

         11                 DR. WILLIAMS:  I'd like to thank the

         12  Council for inviting us to this very important

         13  hearing.

         14                 The Central Harlem Obesity Workgroup,

         15  that's another acronym that's being thrown out- it's

         16  called CHOW, is a growing collaboration of

         17  institutions.  These institutions include the Office

         18  of Minority Health and Mental Hygiene, Harlem

         19  Hospital Center, North General, Columbia University

         20  Institution of Nutrition and a Healthy Monday

         21  campaign of Columbia University's Mailman School of

         22  Public Health.

         23                 It was born out of a tangible need to

         24  unify the community around a renegade crisis but

         25  through houses of faith. Obesity and its allies have
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          2  reached a critical mass in Central Harlem and

          3  similar low income neighborhoods.  The rising human

          4  and economic toll of obesity in this country is

          5  staggering and is already been summarized by several

          6  speakers today.  We know that weight loss

          7  interventions work and will result in the reduction

          8  of many common diseases associated with obesity.

          9  Researchers have calculated that sustained 10%

         10  weight reduction would reduce the expected lifetime

         11  medical costs of hypertension, type 2 diabetes,

         12  coronary heart disease, hyperlipidemia and stroke.

         13                 CHOW, or the Central Harlem Obesity

         14  Workgroup, is a faith- based initiative.  It targets

         15  the entire family unit. Outreach to Harlem ministers

         16  will be spear- headed by Reverend Butts of

         17  Abyssinian Baptist Church and Reverend Forbes of

         18  Riverside Church.  CHOW is designed to be a

         19  partnership between universities, schools,

         20  government, hospitals, businesses, community

         21  organizations and houses of faith.  All of us are

         22  steakholders and by coming together we get a

         23  panoramic perspective and a stronger right hand.

         24                 CHOW will develop, implement and

         25  measure cost effective, sustainable evidence- driven
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          2  community interventions to reduce the prevalence of

          3  obesity in Central Harlem in a one year multi-

          4  faceted program through faith- based institutions

          5  and create a culture of health awareness and

          6  activism within these institutions.  Specifically,

          7  under the Office of Minority Health and Mental

          8  Hygiene, the Manhattan Ecumenical Advisor Group is

          9  proposing to sponsor the first annual Central Harlem

         10  Health Revival week.  Obesity will be the central

         11  theme this year.  This week will represent the

         12  melting pot kick- off for CHOW activities.  CHOW

         13  will evaluate community perceptions in Central

         14  Harlem of obesity through focus groups.  CHOW will

         15  chronicle existing nutrition and physical activity

         16  programs within Central Harlem and its faith- based

         17  institutions.  CHOW will develop a community

         18  specific health resource guide.  CHOW will further

         19  divide Central Harlem into 10 zones and select

         20  umbrella faith based organizations within each zone

         21  as partner.

         22                 CHOW programs will be based on

         23  tailored versions of the Be Fit to Benefit Workplace

         24  program designed by Columbia University's Urban

         25  Center for Clinical Research and Institute for Human
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          2  Nutrition represented here in the audience by Wahida

          3  Karmally, as well as innovative call to action

          4  programs such as the Healthy Monday campaign of the

          5  Mailman's School of Public Health represented here

          6  in the audience by Dr. Audrey Cross (phonetic).

          7  These programs, we hope, will increase awareness of

          8  healthy choices, specifically good nutrition and

          9  physical activity. Increased access to healthy

         10  choices through collaborations with Farmer's

         11  Markets, food vendors, facilities for physical

         12  activity and other community- based organizations.

         13            Empower the Family Unit, which is one of

         14  the key focuses of CHOW and help decrease body

         15  weight by at least 5 to 10% in obese individuals who

         16  need to manage their weight.  At this point I would

         17  like to introduce the leading consultant of CHOW who

         18  is Dr. Richard Deckelbaum.  Dr. Deckelbaum is a

         19  Professor of Nutrition, Professor of Pediatrics and

         20  Professor of Epidemiology at Columbia.  He is a

         21  national and international expert on obesity.  A

         22  member of the United States Department of

         23  Agriculture and Health and Human Services Advisory

         24  Committee but Dietary Guidelines for the year 2000;

         25  Chair of the International March of Dimes Taskforce
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          2  on Nutrition.  He also chaired the New York American

          3  Heart Association Committee on school programs.

          4                 Dr. Deckelbaum.

          5                 DR. DECKELBAUM:  Thank you very much

          6  Dr. Williams. It's indeed a pleasure.  I'm very

          7  pleased to see this coordinated effort that we're

          8  all taking part in today.  I just want to add about

          9  two facts related to obesity that haven't yet been

         10  mentioned. One is a very under- appreciated fact

         11  that considering that, as shown in this introductory

         12  document, it's actually Hispanics and African

         13  American teenagers that have shown the highest rise

         14  in obesity in the last 15 years.  While the rest of

         15  America has doubled, this particular group of

         16  adolescent females has tripled obesity prevalence

         17  rates.  One of the outcomes of obesity that is

         18  totally under- appreciated is that you double to

         19  quadruple the prevalence rates of congenital birth

         20  defects and pre- term delivery if the mother is

         21  overweight.  That's BMI 25 to 29.9 or obese but

         22  overweight contributes very, very much, even without

         23  obesity, to congenital birth defects.  This is a

         24  major additional cost that we have to realize

         25  because these babies go on to lifeline treatment.
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          2                 The other point I would like to

          3  mention is that some fast food services provide in a

          4  super- size type meal 1,800 calories which is the

          5  caloric intake needed for a ten- year old in one day

          6  and that's consumed in 15 minutes.  So, I encourage

          7  everyone to digest that.

          8                 In terms of what can this Committee,

          9  the Committee on Health of New York City, do I

         10  suggest that the Committee endorse the CHOW and

         11  other activities that a particularly targeted to the

         12  most vulnerable populations which are the lowest

         13  socio- economic classes, the minority groups such as

         14  those represented in Harlem. I would ask that the

         15  Council and the Committee on Health and the

         16  Department of Health help coordinate activities

         17  within New York so that we can bring together, in a

         18  coordinated fashion, the schools, the communities,

         19  the worksites in a family- based approach because

         20  targeting just individual groups doesn't work nearly

         21  as well as bringing in the whole family unit.

         22                 I'd like to offer the 100% backing

         23  and commitment of Columbia University, of the

         24  Institute of Human Nutrition, of the Mailman's

         25  School of Public Health, the Irving Clinical
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          2  Research Center which can help, for example, in

          3  monitoring and data management along with Harlem

          4  Hospital and North General and Presbyterian

          5  Hospital.

          6                 I believe that, through coordinated

          7  efforts, you can achieve a cost- effective model for

          8  New York City which will serve as a model nationally

          9  and internationally.

         10                 The last word, I'd like to quote one

         11  of our visiting faculty last year who brought up the

         12  phrase "what is the cost of doing nothing"?  I would

         13  like to close by saying, the cost of doing nothing

         14  for the obesity epidemic in New York City is going

         15  to be extremely expensive.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Thank you.  Mr.

         18  Sheehan.

         19                 MR. SHEEHAN:  Yes.  Dr. Peter

         20  Sheehan.  I want to thank you for having this

         21  session today.  I'm here representing the American

         22  Diabetes Association.  I'm an endocrinologist.  I

         23  take care of people with diabetes 100% of my

         24  professional time.  I am President of the Local

         25  Leadership Council in New York City for the American
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          2  Diabetes Association and I am a Member of the

          3  National Board of Trustees at the ADA.

          4

          5                 The ADA is the nation's leading non

          6  profit health organization for diabetes research

          7  information and advocacy.  The mission of the ADA is

          8  to prevent and cure diabetes and improve the lives

          9  of all people affected by diabetes.  Our

         10  headquarters is in Alexandria, Virginia.

         11                 Diabetes and obesity are the

         12  hurricane Katrina of the healthcare system.  It's

         13  the poor, it's the dispossessed and it's a system

         14  that is not responding.  It's a tragedy going on

         15  right now.  Obesity is the major risk factor for

         16  diabetes but it's also about race and class.  In

         17  it's genetically susceptible it leads to type 2

         18  diabetes.  This is particularly true in New York of

         19  African American, Hispanic and Asian New Yorkers.

         20                 50% of children with diabetes are

         21  type 2 which was unheard of 20 years ago when I was

         22  a doctor in training.  In fact, one out of three

         23  children born in the year 2000 will develop diabetes

         24  in their lifetime.  50% of Hispanic kids born in

         25  2000 will develop diabetes and two out of five
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          2  African American kids will develop diabetes in their

          3  lifetime.  This is something that happens to

          4  children.  It's not their fault.  They're innocent

          5  victims.  We can't really sit by and allow this to

          6  happen and proceed.  If a child goes through

          7  puberty, and the doctors will back me up on this, if

          8  the child goes through puberty obese they're doomed

          9  to a lifetime battle because of fat cells multiply

         10  during that time.  So they're left, tragically, with

         11  a lifetime battle.  As a sense of urgency, it's

         12  really the nine and ten year olds today we got to

         13  get to try to prevent this price for the rest of

         14  their lives.  800,000 New Yorkers with diabetes, the

         15  City knows it's a very expensive problem and obesity

         16  is the road to diabetes.

         17                 From the American Diabetes

         18  Association, I'll submit some print after.  I

         19  neglected to make copies.  In full appreciation of

         20  the prior testimony and very good ideas on how to

         21  address this, the American Diabetes Association

         22  feels the focus should be in the schools.  First

         23  through nutrition, school lunch programs which are

         24  regulated by the federal government.  Recently the

         25  American Heart Association and former President Bill
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          2  Clinton ushered through an agreement with vending

          3  machines and with major beverage suppliers.

          4  However, this is not legally binding and does not

          5  address all beverages.  The ADA would feel a good

          6  approach is a state legislation with New York State

          7  Assemblywoman Sandy Galiff about restricting vending

          8  machines in schools.

          9                 School exercise has already been

         10  appreciated and testified.  The American Cancer

         11  Society, the American Diabetes Association and the

         12  American Heart Association have all joined together

         13  in recommending minimum time requirements for phys-

         14  ed in schools.  The problem we think may be

         15  adherence.  A recent New York Times article on

         16  diabetes, the four- part series in January, the

         17  reporter followed a young girl to recess and it was

         18  a total eight minutes that.  So, we think that we

         19  may be able to improve on adherence.

         20                 In addition, the BMI assessment is

         21  already been brought up.  We feel that this is

         22  really arguably the most validated measure of

         23  obesity.  It's easy to do- height and weight in the

         24  calculation.  Several states, Arkansas, Illinois and

         25  Pennsylvania, have mandated BMI assessments.  I just

                                                            67

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  learned today that the City has mandated this

          3  through the Department of Health and Mental Hygiene.

          4    However, I'm not sure that the adherence and

          5  compliance to that is 100%.  But this is a very

          6  valuable thing to identify children who are obese,

          7  report that to their parent or caretaker and report

          8  that to their primary physician.

          9                 Outside the schools, we've already

         10  heard testimony about fast food chains.  One

         11  enforceable item would be to require nutritional

         12  information on the menus.  Make that quite visible.

         13  We do it already with groceries, food labeling.

         14  This should be done with the major fast food chains

         15  that they put the nutritional information on the

         16  menus.

         17                 Thank you very much for your

         18  attention.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Thank you very

         20  much Dr. Sheehan.  I want to thank this

         21  distinguished panel for testifying at today's

         22  hearing.

         23                 To what extent can we rely on the

         24  schools to fight obesity.  We have meal programs,

         25  both breakfast and lunch and both, according to my
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          2  understanding, are still under- utilized in the

          3  schools.  So, while you talk about how we should

          4  rely on the schools to provide the nutrition as well

          5  as the awareness, the success rate is still somewhat

          6  mixed.  Is there anything we can do better to get

          7  the participation rates up?

          8                 DR. SHEEHAN:  Well I think every body

          9  will have a comment on that.

         10                 MS. PITTMAN: Well, I just wanted to

         11  say I think that there might be some stigma attached

         12  to participating in the school breakfast and lunch

         13  programs.  Then there's also the uncool aspect that

         14  was mentioned before which I think is a real problem

         15  about a lot of things, not just school lunch.  For

         16  example, getting good grades is also considered

         17  uncool in some quarters.

         18                 So, I think there's a little bit of

         19  an image problem there but the other pieces I'm not

         20  sure the extent to which it's actually heavily

         21  promoted.

         22                 When my kids where-

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Is there a

         24  compliance issue with the schools?

         25                 MS. PITTMAN:  Oh, I can't speak to
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          2  that.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Okay.  Can

          4  anybody in the panel speak to that?  Might there be

          5  a compliance issue with any of our schools?

          6                 DR. BARONDESS:  In the sense of

          7  schools you mean joining the program?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Joining their

          9  programs; making sure that parents are fully aware

         10  of them; enrolling them properly and anything that

         11  they're supposed to do that maybe they're falling

         12  short on.

         13                 DR. BARONDESS:  I think the issue is

         14  not compliance, it's effectiveness.  The schools are

         15  one element of a continuum of places that have to be

         16  involved in trying, in the first place, to prevent

         17  obesity in the numbers and proportions in which it's

         18  occurring and in the second place to try and to do

         19  something about reducing caloric intake in children

         20  who are already obese.

         21                 I think the schools are very

         22  important.  By themselves as the major element in an

         23  effort, I think that will not be enormously

         24  effective.  The families, the people who train the

         25  kids how to eat and when to tall when they're had
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          2  enough are crucial in my judgment.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Thank you very

          4  much Dr. Barondess.

          5                 DR. SHEEHAN:  I would agree.  I think

          6  if you can get to the care- giver, that would be the

          7  best return in terms of changing eating behaviors.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  A care- giver

          9  meaning the parent or guardian?

         10                 DR. SHEEHAN:  Correct.  But at the

         11  ADA we're advocating for school interventions

         12  because that's an accessible apparatus that can be

         13  affected by local government and may change food

         14  behaviors.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Thank you.  Our

         16  Assistant Commissioner would like to chime in.  I

         17  apologize for not asking you this earlier.

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:

         19  That's okay.  I think it's not so much an issue of

         20  offering.  I think school children are pretty much

         21  universally offered school meals and they get the

         22  forms.  Not all children qualify for the free lunch

         23  program.  The Bronx, for example, is a borough that

         24  universally qualifies.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Even the full
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          2  price lunch is still heavily subsidized.

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  It's

          4  still heavily subsidized.  I think a couple of

          5  issues are who qualifies but probably the biggest

          6  issues for those children who don't participate is

          7  just making school lunch more and more attractive

          8  and I think the Department of Education has made

          9  some major improvements in school lunch.  There's a

         10  way to go, having our cafeterias also be more

         11  pleasant environment; less crowded; just a general

         12  better food environment in the schools.  I think

         13  that's one of the challenges we face to make our

         14  school lunches more attractive.

         15                 Overall though, as I mentioned, we do

         16  serve over 800,000 meals a day for 1.2 million

         17  school children, approximately. I don't have the

         18  exact numbers with me.  So that while participation

         19  rates could be higher, they are quite significant

         20  today.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  I never want to

         22  be a rabble rouser, but let me ask you about the way

         23  lunch is served in our schools.  I think the

         24  Department of Education in our public schools have a

         25  difficult challenge to deal with, with respect to
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          2  overcrowding in our schools and timing.  Has the

          3  Department of Health conducted any kind of study to

          4  find any correlation between the time that lunch is

          5  served and participation rates and the actual

          6  nutritional intake for the kids in school?  For

          7  example, if the school is making a child eat lunch

          8  at 10:00 a.m., which happens amazingly frequently in

          9  our schools, is that child going to eat the full

         10  lunch or are they just going to take their cookie?

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  I

         12  don't know about 10:00 a.m. But 11:00 is pretty

         13  common.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  10:00 a.m.,

         15  believe it or not is also very common.  Or 10:20, I

         16  should say, is one of the periods where they start

         17  lunch.

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  We

         19  haven't- the Department of Health, I can't speak for

         20  the Department of Education, they do most of the

         21  monitoring of participation rates. The Department of

         22  health does not carry out any studies on that but I

         23  think we are all well aware that the crowding and

         24  the multiple shifts for lunch periods and the

         25  environment that that creates around lunch is a
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          2  problem at many sites.  That needs to be addressed.

          3                 One of the things we are doing is

          4  working to create school nutrition committees with

          5  parents and members, teachers and principals.

          6  Particularly in our high risk neighborhoods to try

          7  and address the nutrition issues and the physical

          8  activity issues in the schools as an integrated

          9  question.  I hope that having some pull from the

         10  community levels and having those structures

         11  available in the schools, they help to address some

         12  of these problems.  But the overcrowding is a real

         13  structure issue.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  I would suggest

         15  that, like I said before, it's a serious challenge

         16  that the schools have to get through.  The choice

         17  for them is either lunch at 10 or no lunch just

         18  because physically they can't fit as many kids as

         19  they would like to into the lunch room or the

         20  cafeteria.  But at the same time, I think we ought

         21  to start thinking about what kind of impact- making

         22  kids eat lunch at 10:00 or even at 11:00 when they

         23  still have until 3 p.m. to go.

         24                 What kind of impact that really is

         25  having on nutrition of our school kids?  To the
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          2  extent where we might have to compromise in other

          3  areas.  For example, allowing kids to have meals in

          4  classrooms.  Maybe that's a trade- off that we have

          5  to make understanding the impact, if there is any.

          6  That's something for your department to determine.

          7  If there is a nutritional impact, maybe we have to

          8  think of other ways to properly serve the meals to

          9  all of the 1.1 million kids in our schools.

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER SILVER:  We'll

         11  take those concerns to our colleagues in Office of

         12  School Food and those of us who are working on that

         13  and try to address that.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Thank you.

         15                 DR. SHEEHAN:  To add a couple of

         16  comments.  One misconception is that children are

         17  resistant to these kinds of changes.  A few years

         18  ago, I met with one of the biggest children's food

         19  producers who had tremendous amount of salt in their

         20  produced foods and I said "why do you do this"?

         21  They said, "well otherwise they won't take it; they

         22  won't taste it".  Anyway, I said "try low salt".

         23  They tried right from baby foods up and the children

         24  take it very easily.  So, we have here really

         25  compliant populations that we need to work with.
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          2  Again, Saturday morning television advertising which

          3  particularly we've done a study in Columbia which

          4  shows that Saturday morning a.m. advertising to

          5  blacks and Hispanics is actually much worse types of

          6  foods than it is to the Caucasian audiences.  That

          7  was done by Bob McIntosh, a master's student at the

          8  institute.

          9                 I think we have opportunities here to

         10  work with the schools both through the Department of

         11  Education who can enforce some of this to utilize

         12  nutrition school meals and physical activity as

         13  actually nutrition and healthy laboratories.  So,

         14  make it part of the education experience and what

         15  they're getting out of the schools.  If you want to

         16  call it a laboratory you can have contests for the

         17  kids related to nutrition.  There's many, many ways

         18  to get the kids onboard.  Ask the kids how to do

         19  this because there will be leadership among the kids

         20  in the school who will help get this achieved.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  There were

         22  comments before about how our supposed problem is an

         23  attitude problem and that having school meals is not

         24  the coolest thing to do.  It's much cooler to go out

         25  to the local pizza joint or even to the hot dog cart
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          2  at the corner or McDonalds and I think that's

          3  problem.  My questions would be, is there a sense as

          4  to what age this problem begins?  Because I don't

          5  think the attitude problem is so pervasive in our

          6  elementary schools.  In high schools, I can imagine

          7  that it's a bigger problem.  But the obesity problem

          8  doesn't being only in high school.  Does it?

          9                 DR. SHEEHAN:  It's beginning at age

         10  two.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  At age two or

         12  second grade?  At age two.

         13                 DR. SHEEHAN:  Yeah.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  So, the

         15  uncoolness factor is probably not as large a factor

         16  as some other more systemic factors.

         17

         18                 DR. DECKELBAUM:  But even the younger

         19  kids in kindergarten, you can get the kids involved

         20  in leading the other kids.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Sure.  And at my

         22  local schools in Flushing, we no longer have the

         23  pyramid which is kind of dull to the kids.  Instead

         24  they have all these different kids of charts now

         25  that talk about the different food groups and it's
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          2  just more appealing for the kids.  So, communicating

          3  is something that we can always improve upon

          4  ourselves.

          5                 Thank you very much for your time

          6  this afternoon. Now time to call up the next and

          7  final panel.

          8                 We have Cliff Sperber, Amy Schwartz,

          9  Aine Duggan, and Jennifer O'Neill.

         10                 Thank you for joining us Mr. Sperber.

         11    We know you have some constraints.  Just pull the

         12  mike closer and push the button so that the red

         13  light is off.

         14                 MR. SPERBER:  Thank you very much.

         15  There we go.  My school started Running Partners.  I

         16  study more, read more and eat better.  It's a great

         17  workout.  It makes me feel good about myself.

         18  Members of the Health Committee, Members of the City

         19  Council, on behalf of New York Roadrunner's

         20  Foundation, originators of Running Partners'

         21  programs, thank you very much for the honor of

         22  joining today's distinguished speakers to present

         23  that quote from fifth grader, Jason, and to address

         24  you on the subject of New York City's response to

         25  the obesity epidemic.
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          2                 New York Roadrunner's Foundation is a

          3  youth service arm of New York Roadrunners.  Renowned

          4  as owner/operators of the ING New York City

          5  Marathon.  In keeping with Roadrunner's mission of

          6  changing the world for the better through running,

          7  the Foundation was started eight years ago and our

          8  service population has surged since the City Council

          9  Education Committee hearing on physical education in

         10  the schools was held in September of 2003. By

         11  developing excellent public/private partnerships,

         12  including one with the Department of Health and

         13  Mental Hygiene, right behind me, we served 15,000

         14  children a week this spring through programs in more

         15  than 100 New York City schools and community

         16  centers.

         17                 Our Running Partners program deter

         18  obesity and teach kids a mindset and methodology to

         19  become physically fit now and remain fit throughout

         20  life.  Kids set goals and receive incentives for

         21  individual and team participation as well as their

         22  personal achievements.  I'm just happy to point out

         23  that we awarded 8,000 of these medals that kids

         24  received for running one marathon of miles or 26.2

         25  miles during the course of the school year and we
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          2  awarded many other medals and tens of thousands more

          3  incentives as well.

          4                 The Running Partners mileage club

          5  enables entire classes, grades and schools to get

          6  their students running and/or walking a minimum of

          7  half a mile a day up to five days a week. During the

          8  school year, we operated mileage clubs in 50 schools

          9  with 12,000 active participants who collectively ran

         10  and/or walked one quarter million miles- 250,000

         11  miles.  It is from these experiences we offer our

         12  recommendation and a challenge.  As a close partner

         13  with the Department of Education, we have seen huge

         14  strides in the last three years with regards to

         15  respect and resources that are being afforded

         16  physical education.

         17                 Accountability at the principles

         18  level, however, upon which the quality of New York

         19  City children's physical education ultimately rests,

         20  has not yet been put into place.  We strong urge

         21  such accountability as a potent practical means of

         22  motivating principles to develop and deploy physical

         23  education resources and a significant step in

         24  combating youth obesity and improving New York City

         25  children's health for both the short and long- term.
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          2                 Our challenge offers the semination

          3  of our proven mileage club program to tens of

          4  thousands more New York City children and addresses

          5  the accountability issue by offering one measure by

          6  which principles can be evaluated for the success of

          7  providing meaningful physical education within their

          8  school.

          9                 It is our goal during the next school

         10  year to establish mileage clubs in 100 New York City

         11  schools that collectively run half a million miles

         12  and to establish mileage clubs in 150 to 200 schools

         13  that collectively run one million miles the

         14  following year.  We feel these half million and

         15  million mile challenges are a wonderful way to teach

         16  children the fundamental means to combat obesity and

         17  for New York City to set the example on a critical

         18  public health issue that urgently needs to be

         19  addressed not only locally but in almost every

         20  community throughout America and around the world.

         21                 Together we can reach the million

         22  mile challenge and then take on the million child

         23  challenge of getting all of our City's million plus

         24  children in programs that uplift their health and

         25  well- being.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Thank you.  Ms.

          4  Schwartz.

          5                 MS. SCHWARTZ:  Good afternoon.  My

          6  name is Amy Schwartz and I'm the Executive Director

          7  at the Public Health Association of New York City,

          8  also known as PHANYC.  We are one of the oldest and

          9  largest affiliates of the American Public Health

         10  Association, the Nationalist Organization of Public

         11  Health Professionals.  This year PHANYC celebrates

         12  it 70th anniversary of advocating for improved

         13  health in New York City.

         14                 First I'd like to thank the City

         15  Council Health Committee for hold this oversight

         16  hearing on the City's response to such a critical

         17  public health problem and for allowing PHANYC this

         18  opportunity to offer recommendations for addressing

         19  for the obesity epidemic.

         20                 As public health professionals we are

         21  greatly concerned at the obesity epidemic and the

         22  associated rise in diabetes type 2 and other chronic

         23  medical and life threatening medical conditions

         24  threatening public health, social justice, economic

         25  productivity and a capacity of the City's hospitals
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          2  and social service agencies to respond to the City's

          3  current and emergent health needs.  We fear that,

          4  absent more determined intervention, diabetes will

          5  pose as severe a threat to New York City's well-

          6  being in the next decades as the HIV epidemic did in

          7  the previous two decades.

          8                 Let me start with some basic

          9  statistics from the New York City Department of

         10  Health and Mental Hygiene, many of which we've just

         11  heard from many individuals so I will quickly

         12  summarize some information which we've heard

         13  already.

         14                 In 2003, the Department of Health

         15  found that over half of all adults in New York City

         16  were overweight or obese. Nearly a quarter of all of

         17  our kindergarten children are obese. Contributing to

         18  this problem, the Department of Health found that

         19  26% of New York City adults reported no physical

         20  activity in the past month and only 30% exercised

         21  most days of the week.  In addition, nearly 60% of

         22  high school children watch three or more hours of tv

         23  on a given school day and, disturbingly, another

         24  study found that 40% of the children in the City's

         25  Headstart programs are overweight or obese.
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          2                 In some ways the solution to the

          3  obesity epidemic are quite simple.  Nutritionists

          4  tell us to loose weight.  People need to eat less

          5  unhealthy high fat, high sugar, high calorie and low

          6  nutrient foods and exercise more.  Even small

          7  changes in eating and exercise will bring about

          8  changes.  But, we all know that achieving these

          9  simple changes is not easy.  In part because we have

         10  allowed an environment that supports unhealthy

         11  eating and physical inactivity to flourish.

         12                 In PHANYC's viewpoint, the single

         13  most important goal is to use the City government as

         14  a catalyst to change policies that contribute to

         15  obesity and support policy changes that make it

         16  easier for New Yorkers to eat less and move more.

         17  More specifically, we need policies that make

         18  healthy foods like fresh fruits and vegetables,

         19  whole grain products and low fat dairy products more

         20  affordable and accessible and high fat, high sugar

         21  and low nutrient foods less accessible and

         22  available.

         23                 We also need policies that make it

         24  easier for all New Yorkers to find safe, affordable

         25  place for physical activity. Only when the City
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          2  policy makes it easy for people to choose health is

          3  it fair to ask people to make the individual changes

          4  needed to improve health.  PHANYC is especially

          5  concerned about the disproportionate impact of

          6  obesity on lower income neighborhoods and on Blacks

          7  and Latinos.  In these neighborhoods healthy foods

          8  like fruit and vegetables are less available, or

          9  poor quality and more expensive.  High fat, low

         10  nutrient foods are often more available and

         11  sometimes less expensive than healthier choices.

         12  Similarly, these communities are less safer walking

         13  or playing outside and their parks are less safe and

         14  less maintained.

         15                 Any solution to the City's obesity

         16  problem must have, as its goal, reducing the

         17  disproportionate impact of obesity so that all New

         18  Yorkers have the same opportunities for health.  To

         19  do so violates these basic American standards of

         20  justice and equality.

         21                 What I'd like to do is offer some

         22  quick recommendations and I'm addressing different

         23  agencies within the City's government of which I'm

         24  going to list eight.  I will quickly give an action

         25  plan that we see each agency can undertake.
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          2                 The Department of Education- We

          3  recommend an increase in the number of schools in

          4  New York City that offer comprehensive health

          5  education and health promotion programs including

          6  programs on nutrition and food systems, health and

          7  physical education.  Most schools do not.  Most

          8  schools do not offer any comprehensive program that

          9  helps educate the children, the families, on proper

         10  eating as well as offering health services.

         11                 The New York City Office of School

         12  Food can improve the process of distribution of

         13  fresh foods to its schools and eliminate soda and

         14  candy vending machines in schools and we've spoken

         15  about that originally- a little before.

         16                 Department of Health- They gave a

         17  great discussion about things they are doing and we

         18  commend and applaud their efforts.  We also

         19  encourage them to assist school- based health

         20  clinics to assess and reduce childhood obesity.

         21                 The New York City Economic

         22  Development Corporation among recommendations we

         23  have, one of the most important ones we see is to

         24  support the development of a New York City wholesale

         25  farmer's market and increase the number of farmer's
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          2  markets in lower income neighborhoods.

          3                 The Department of Consumer Affairs,

          4  we've heard before about the need to reign- in fast

          5  food and marketing especially to our children and

          6  the families.  One of the things that we recommend

          7  that they do is limit inappropriate food

          8  advertisement to children.  We need to repress that.

          9  If anybody's walked down the aisle in a supermarket

         10  and see cereal boxes and there are characters that

         11  are appealing to children and get parents to know

         12  that these are not very nutritional foods.  We've

         13  got a lot to deal with.  We need to address that

         14  problem.

         15                 We're talking about the children and

         16  we do need to address the problems of obesity

         17  specially with young children understanding that

         18  develops into conditional, severe problems later on.

         19  But let's not forget the elderly.  We're encouraging

         20  the New York City Department for the Aging to create

         21  more opportunities for nutrition education and

         22  healthful food, preparation through faith based

         23  communities, community senior centers and other

         24  places that serve foods.  New York City Parks

         25  Department should use public spaces for farmer's
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          2  markets, community gardens and summer food programs.

          3    That's among other improvements that need to be

          4  made. The HRA, New York City Human Resources

          5  Administration can facilitate enrollment for those

          6  eligible for the food stamp program by simplifying

          7  the application form.  The Mayor's Office, among the

          8  recommendations as was mentioned before, asked the

          9  independent commission to plan a comprehensive

         10  citywide response to obesity and diabetes.

         11                 In conclusion, PHANYC believes New

         12  York City can do much better.  We applaud the

         13  proposal put forth by Council Speaker Christine

         14  Quinn and Councilman Eric Goia to create a

         15  coordinated city food system agency.  In the next

         16  few months, we will be working with local health,

         17  nutrition school and other groups to identify

         18  programmatic and policy priorities to address the

         19  epidemic of obesity, diabetes and physical

         20  inactivity in our boroughs.  We will issue a report

         21  on actions New York City can take to get New Yorkers

         22  moving more.  In October, we will sponsor a major

         23  citywide conference designed to bring together all

         24  those concerned by obesity and diabetes to develop a

         25  citywide policy agenda to reduce these problems.
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          2                 The policy changes we recommend here

          3  are the first steps towards a concerted effort

          4  across multiple government agencies, organizations

          5  and businesses to take on the problem of obesity and

          6  its associated complications.

          7                 PHANYC looks forward to being part of

          8  this effort and thank you very much for this

          9  opportunity.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Thank you very

         11  much.  Ms. Duggan.

         12                 MS. DUGGAN:  Hi.  I'm Aine Duggan,

         13  Vice President for Government Relations with the

         14  Food Bank for New York City. First of all, I want to

         15  thank the Council for the invitation to present

         16  testimony today.  It's not often that people

         17  recognize the link between hunger and obesity and

         18  it's something that we've been working very hard to

         19  gather awareness about.

         20                 First of all, the Food Bank is the

         21  organization that provides emergency food to the

         22  vast majority of soup kitchens and food pantries

         23  around the City.  We also have senior centers, after

         24  school programs and general community programs in

         25  our network of over 1,200 programs who in turn

                                                            89

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  provide food to 1.2 million New Yorkers each year.

          3  Everyday they provide about 250,000 meals.

          4                 There's a lot of research on the link

          5  between food and security, hunger and obesity.  Some

          6  of it does include a sort of conflicting findings

          7  but there's general consensus on a number of key

          8  factors.  The first and foremost would be that,

          9  amongst populations of people who are food insecure,

         10  have very little consumption of fresh fruit and

         11  vegetables and at the same time lack of fresh food

         12  and vegetables is linked to higher rates of obesity

         13  and increased likelihood of obesity.

         14

         15                 The second commonality is shown by

         16  shining a demographic lens on the two problems.

         17  It's mainly the same communities who are impacted by

         18  obesity and hunger.  We see, for example Black,

         19  African American, Latino, Hispanic, mothers with

         20  young children and the working poor who are very

         21  highly impacted by both issues.

         22                 The underlying common causality is

         23  poverty and I guess that's not rocket science but

         24  it's one of the issues that probably doesn't get

         25  talked about very much when people are talking about
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          2  obesity.  One of the ways that we look at it is

          3  through the population of individuals turning to

          4  soup kitchens and food pantries around the City.  As

          5  I say, we're looking at 1.2 million so it's rather a

          6  good population to give us overall characteristics.

          7                 Poverty forces reliance on cheap food

          8  and I think we've probably heard sufficient

          9  testimony today on the content of cheap food.  We're

         10  talking mostly food that's high in fat and high in

         11  calories and not very high in the type of

         12  nutritional ingredients that are actually good for

         13  us.

         14                 The poverty also forces what are

         15  called psycho social and physiological factors that

         16  lead to higher rates of obesity.  For example, binge

         17  eating, stress and lack of access to health care and

         18  lack of exercise.  The binge eating, funny enough,

         19  is caused by a number of different factors.

         20                 One example is what is called the

         21  food stamp cycle. Food stamps, for the vast majority

         22  of people run out in the middle of the month.  So

         23  you have two weeks of food resource and two weeks

         24  without.  What generally tends to happen is that

         25  families overeat during the first two weeks and then
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          2  in the remaining two weeks of the month they don't

          3  have enough food to suffice which is why they are

          4  actually binge eating in the first two weeks of the

          5  month.

          6                 Another example of this is mothers

          7  with young children who generally tend to put food

          8  on the table for their children first.  So, in times

          9  when they don't have access to food, they're not

         10  eating themselves but when they do have available

         11  access to food, they tend to binge eat.

         12                 The lack of access to health care

         13  impacts families in two ways.  Number one, they're

         14  not getting information about nutrition and

         15  certainly not getting medical care when it comes to

         16  an issue like obesity.  And secondly, for families

         17  who don't have medical care or medical coverage

         18  they're paying out of pocket for any care that they

         19  might need in an emergency which leaves them less

         20  money to go to the grocery store and buy food that

         21  they might need for the family which means they're

         22  even more reliant on cheap foods.

         23                 Of course, they're also reliant on

         24  emergency food and this is what spurred the food

         25  bank to start working on nutritional issues with the
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          2  network of programs that we serve. There are, I

          3  suppose, four ways that we do that.

          4                 Number one, we have nutritionists on

          5  staff who work with all of the programs in the

          6  network.  Number two, we have a program called Kids

          7  Cafe, it's an advanced after- school program where

          8  we provide nutritional education, not just to the

          9  children but also their parents and to the programs

         10  that serve them.  In fact, as part of the expansion

         11  of that program we are launching a program called

         12  Cafe Shake which is going to introduce an exercise

         13  curriculum to all of the after- school programs that

         14  we serve.

         15                 The third initiative is what we call

         16  our Fresh Food initiative.  Back in 1989 we started

         17  increasing the amount of fresh fruit and vegetables

         18  and meat and fish that the programs would then in

         19  turn make available to families in need.  Just sort

         20  of one statistic, I think, that shows not only the

         21  need but also how families in poverty respond to

         22  fresh food.  There's been a 233% increase since 2001

         23  in the amount of fresh food distributed through the

         24  programs.

         25                 The fourth role that we play is in
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          2  the policy arena. We work with government agencies

          3  and we work with elected officials and we did also

          4  work with the individual programs to try and

          5  increase enrollment in government nutrition

          6  programs.

          7                 Which brings me onto, I think, one of

          8  the key issues that City government can help us work

          9  on.

         10                 There is a chronic, under-

         11  utilization of government nutrition programs amongst

         12  people who use soup kitchens and food pantries.  In

         13  fact, less than half of the people who turn to soup

         14  kitchens and food pantries are currently enrolled in

         15  the food stamps program when their income levels

         16  indicate that almost all would be eligible for the

         17  program.

         18                 Earlier on, people were talking about

         19  the school lunch and school breakfast program.

         20  Again, there's chronic under utilization amongst the

         21  emergency food program population.  For example,

         22  only 50% of families with young children who go to

         23  soup kitchens and food pantries are using the school

         24  breakfast program. A slightly higher number, almost

         25  two- thirds, are using the school lunch program but
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          2  then shockingly only one- third are using the summer

          3  meals program.

          4                 Part of it is about access and

          5  availability.  A huge part of it is about timing and

          6  transportation.  Particularly with the breakfast

          7  program.  A number of families are not able to make

          8  it into school early enough to avail of the

          9  breakfast program.  One suggestion to fix that

         10  problem is to make breakfast available during the

         11  first class.  In fact, it could even be coupled with

         12  nutritional education.  But it would make it easier

         13  for families, particularly families headed by single

         14  women to get their children to school before they go

         15  to work.

         16                 The other issue, of course, is that

         17  if there's increased enrollment in government

         18  programs, it means that families have more

         19  disposable income to afford more nutritious food

         20  than the cheaper foods they're now relying on.

         21                 The other issue is availability of

         22  food.  In the communities where most of the people

         23  who turn to soup kitchens and food pantries live,

         24  there's very little in the way of nutritious food

         25  available in bodegas or other supermarkets and we've
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          2  heard testimony about that earlier.  Part of the

          3  solution is about increasing access to nutritious

          4  food in those communities.

          5                 The Speakers Office, as you all know,

          6  has announced a proposal that would take care of a

          7  number of these issues including enrollment in the

          8  government nutrition programs and also increasing

          9  access to farmer's markets in poor communities and

         10  increasing or improving the acceptance of food

         11  stamps in those communities in the farmer's markets.

         12    The food bank wholeheartedly supports all of the

         13  measures outlined by the Speaker.  We've made that

         14  clear at General Welfare Committee hearings and I'm

         15  just sort of echoing that again today.

         16                 But we also think that there's a role

         17  for City government to play in helping to make sure

         18  that enough families who are going to emergency food

         19  programs have access to nutritious food.  The

         20  biggest problem that we have, even though we've been

         21  working on it now for more than a decade, is that

         22  fresh food only makes up 17% of the food distributed

         23  to emergency food programs. The reason for that is

         24  because there's heavy reliance on food that comes

         25  through government- supported programs such as the
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          2  Federal Program, the Emergency Food Assistance

          3  Program which is commonly known as TEFAP.  At the

          4  state level we have a program called the Hunger

          5  Prevention and Nutrition Assistance Program.  Then,

          6  at the City level we have EFAP which is the

          7  Emergency Food Assistance Program.

          8                 If we look at our donated food alone,

          9  almost 50% of it is fresh nutritious food, be it

         10  fish, meat, fresh fruit or vegetables.  All of that

         11  food is being provided by our partners in the

         12  private food industry.

         13                 On the government side, it's mostly

         14  shelf stable food.  Now, the shelf stable food is

         15  very important.  We don't want to see that food

         16  going away.  But what we would like to see is a new

         17  part of funding for fresh food that can be made

         18  available to the emergency food system.  I think

         19  this will help in the near term.  I think the other

         20  measures will help in the long- term. Thank you.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Thank you very

         22  much.  Ms. O'Neill.

         23                 MS. O'NEILL:  Good afternoon.  My

         24  name is Jennifer O'Neill and I'm here representing

         25  Cornell University Cooperative Extension on
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          2  Nutrition and Health Program area.

          3                 Cornell-

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Ms. O'Neill,

          5  just give me a second.  I just want to let Mr.

          6  Sperber- I do have a few questions for the panel but

          7  if you have constraints, feel free to-

          8                 MR. SPERBER:  I appreciate that.  I'm

          9  hoping to stay a little while longer and-

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Great.  Thank

         11  you very much. Ms. O'Neill sorry for the

         12  interruption.

         13                 MS. O'NEILL:  That's quite alright.

         14  The Cornell Cooperative Extension has been working

         15  with families in limited resource communities in New

         16  York City providing nutrition education for over 30

         17  years.  So, we are out there on the front line

         18  working with families and providing this education.

         19                 Our nutrition and health programs

         20  take the latest research available and translate

         21  this information into practical skills- based

         22  learning experiences that are designed to build on

         23  the already existing knowledge and skills of the

         24  participants and families we work with.

         25                 Now, through our work with families
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          2  and our extensive knowledge about the communities in

          3  which we work, we have noticed many of the same

          4  trends that the rest of the testimony that have been

          5  given.  Of course, the first and foremost is the

          6  surrounding environment and access to food that

          7  poses such a major problem for most families.

          8  Particularly in the low income neighborhoods.

          9                 Once families understand why and how

         10  to make healthy choices, they're often faced with

         11  the issue that they can't seem to find it in their

         12  community.  As we collaborated with the Department

         13  of Health in Brooklyn, the District Public Health

         14  Office, we did find that this was certainly a

         15  challenge.  Not only was this a challenge but the

         16  media and advertising campaigns aimed at children

         17  for high fat, sugar and calorie dense foods not only

         18  just on tv but also locally.  I brought with me a

         19  typical example of what you would find in a bodega.

         20  A two for a dollar honey bun that contains 530

         21  calories and almost half the fat in saturated fat

         22  that you would need for a day.  This is a typical

         23  snack for a child in central Brooklyn, for example,

         24  on their way home from school.

         25                 They're also inundated, from this
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          2  research that the District Public Health Office did,

          3  they're inundated for advertisements for cigarettes

          4  and alcohol in the window bodegas. So, one of the

          5  recommendations that I have is maybe changing that

          6  policy because this is something that we can affect

          7  locally. Changing that policy and putting a health

          8  message in the window. Let's have something positive

          9  for them to see on their way to school because

         10  that's when they do see it.

         11                 Many people are aware that they

         12  should be eating healthier but they don't

         13  particularly have the skills to do it.  We recognize

         14  that we can't do that alone.  So, one of the things

         15  that we've been focusing on is building the capacity

         16  of other adults in the community who work with

         17  children and families.  For example, teachers,

         18  principals, social workers, camp counselors and

         19  other people who do affect families and children.

         20  Also day- care staff. We're in the process right now

         21  of working on some proposals in collaboration with

         22  the Department of Health to do some capacity

         23  building so that they then can promote health

         24  messages and create policies within their own local

         25  school or agency.
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          2                 Again, supporting the media campaigns

          3  aimed at children and families for healthier foods.

          4  We can do this locally. Publicizing information

          5  about local fitness resources because they do exist.

          6    There's quite a few, especially in the low income

          7  neighborhoods that we're talking about today.  Many

          8  families are not really aware that they exist.  So,

          9  finding a way to get that information out in the

         10  public would be definitely a recommendation that I

         11  have.

         12                 Again, working together which is a

         13  common theme today.  We have many councils, we have

         14  many tasks force and coalitions and committees

         15  going.  But finding a common ground for all of us to

         16  meet and work together is what I urge if the Council

         17  has money for us to do that and funding for which to

         18  support these kinds of efforts so that we do have a

         19  place to come together and discuss best practices

         20  and find an opportunity to collaborate together.

         21  Thank you.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Thank you very

         23  much Ms. O'Neill.  Ms. Gartlan.

         24                 MS. GARTLAN:  Good afternoon.  My

         25  name is Elizabeth Vukovic Gartlan and I'm a
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          2  Registered Dietician and the Manager of Nutrition

          3  Education Programs at City Harvest.  I'm here to

          4  testify on behalf of our Executive Director Jilly

          5  Stephens who is, unfortunately, not able to make it

          6  at the last moment.

          7                 But I'm really thrilled to be here

          8  and to be able to discuss the work of City Harvest

          9  which is the world's first and largest food rescue

         10  organization.  As a hunger response organization in

         11  New York City, we appreciate the opportunity to

         12  address the New York City Council on the obesity

         13  epidemic.

         14                 City Harvests works practical magic

         15  every day of the year.  We take safe, nutritious

         16  food that would otherwise be wasted and deliver it

         17  to a network of more than 500 community agencies in

         18  all five boroughs.  The food is donated to City

         19  Harvest from all parts of the food system which

         20  includes restaurants, green markets, supermarkets

         21  industries.  In a nutshell, we have 15 trucks that

         22  work 24 hours a day to pick up and deliver this food

         23  to our network of community programs.  Last year we

         24  were able to collect more than 19 million pounds and

         25  we were able to help feed more than 260,000 people
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          2  each week.

          3                 Concurrently, City Harvest provides

          4  nutrition and culinary education to the men, women

          5  and children accessing the community programs that

          6  we serve.  Our staff and core of over 70 volunteer

          7  professional nutritionists and culinarians provide

          8  hands on interactive nutrition and cooking education

          9  courses nearly six days a week through those same

         10  emergency food programs in all five boroughs.

         11                 Our front line work with the hungry

         12  and food insecure of New York City echoes what has

         13  really been stated here today and very eloquently

         14  stated by my colleagues here.  That the physical,

         15  the mental, the financial implications of the

         16  obesity epidemic are clear and alarming both on an

         17  individual and community level.

         18                 We know and, again, as it's been

         19  clearly stated here today that obesity affects all

         20  populations.  Yet the obesity epidemic

         21  disproportionately affects low income New Yorkers.

         22  Many of whom also face hunger and food insecurity.

         23                 The 2003 Community Health Survey

         24  released by the New York City Department of Mental

         25  and Hygiene show that, citywide, 18% of New York
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          2  City residents are obese.  Yet, in some of our most

          3  poverty stricken neighborhoods such as Central

          4  Bronx, Central Brooklyn, East New York- those

          5  numbers raise to 27, 30, 31 percent.  There are many

          6  reasons for this health disparity.  I'm not going to

          7  go into it because Ms. Duncan (sic) very, very

          8  eloquently stated it.  But it is a serious issue.

          9                 City Harvest first stepped in

         10  addressing the health of our communities;

         11  acknowledging this disparity is to address the issue

         12  of food access.  But access to food is not enough.

         13  What is needed is access to the right food as

         14  recommended by government and health experts.

         15  Recognizing important of fruits and vegetables play

         16  in the prevention and management of obesity and such

         17  diseases as hypertension, hypercholesterolemia and

         18  type 2 diabetes.  We work to rescue fresh produce.

         19  So far this fiscal year we've provided a total of 11

         20  million pounds to our emergency food programs.

         21                 Other programs expanding from this in

         22  our Produce for Health Initiative, City Harvest has

         23  joined hands with the New York City Housing

         24  Authority to directly distribute fresh foods and

         25  vegetables in a market style atmosphere to residents

                                                            104

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  in the Melrose neighborhood of the Bronx and also in

          3  the Stapleton neighborhood of Staten Island.

          4                 Twice a month over 1,400 families are

          5  able to choose on their own fresh produce from an

          6  open air market.  Therefore, accessing both fresh

          7  produce and nutrition information from our volunteer

          8  and staff nutritionists.

          9                 Yet to impact behavior change,

         10  education must also accompany food access.  In

         11  addition to culinary demonstration at these sites,

         12  City Harvest also provides, as I mentioned earlier,

         13  hands on interactive nutrition and culinary

         14  education programs to men, to women, to children,

         15  individuals, adolescents, families together, people

         16  with HIV and AIDS.  These six- week programs, which

         17  are facilitated by our volunteer chefs and

         18  nutritionists emphasize basic nutrition concepts

         19  such as nutrition label reading, food safety, food

         20  budgeting, preparation of healthy, inexpensive meals

         21  using culturally sensitive recipes for volunteers

         22  who match the ethnicity of the neighborhood and,

         23  again, in just hands- on fun ways.

         24                 Because of the length of the program,

         25  the courses are able to address and incorporate the
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          2  health concerns expressed by the participants, many

          3  of which include both diabetes and obesity.  I also

          4  really want to mention, and this was mentioned

          5  earlier as well, but the desire by the participants

          6  in all of our programs to transform their food

          7  environment.  We're currently facilitating our

          8  residence in the Melrose area where we have our

          9  Produce for Health initiative to conduct a community

         10  food assessment allowing residents to personally

         11  influence and take part in creating a healthy

         12  environment in their neighborhood.

         13                 We also work to support health

         14  friendly pre- school and after- school programs

         15  through a program that we call Fruitful. This year

         16  to date we have provided a total of 56,000 pounds of

         17  fruit to ten sites in order to supplement the snacks

         18  of over 700 children three to five times a week.

         19  The allowance for food in many of our after- school

         20  programs is so small that typical snacks may include

         21  cookies or other nutrient- poor foods.  The addition

         22  of fruit may be the only fruit consumed by those

         23  children in a day. At the same time we provide

         24  nutrition education both to the children in those

         25  programs and also to the staff which has actually
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          2  allowed a transformation of the after- school

          3  program in relation to food.

          4                 At the same time, we're currently

          5  developing what we're calling disease- specific

          6  cooking clubs which is basically a twelve longer

          7  term program, it's twelve weeks where we specify-

          8  it's more of a nutrition management of specific

          9  diseases such as diabetes or weight management as

         10  well.  Followed by a group preparation of the meal

         11  that the participants have chosen themselves.  At

         12  the same time, the program incorporates an inter

         13  disciplinary approach with volunteer social workers,

         14  nurses, podiatrists and other related specialties to

         15  support the health, literacy and behavior changes of

         16  the participants.

         17                 In addition, we're also developing a

         18  program that's aimed at Tweens which is a new

         19  marketing group for the kids.  It's considered ages

         20  9 to 14.  So, it's kind of a pre- teen age group.

         21  Again, a group that is as much at need for nutrition

         22  education but before they really hit those teenage

         23  years.  It's all discovery based.  Again, it's a

         24  twelve- week program so it's very discovery based

         25  where it's not just somebody talking about nutrition
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          2  or talking about eating well.  The kids are actually

          3  mapping their community.  They're actually

          4  discovering.  They're doing their own nutrient

          5  analysis.  They are talking about current issues so

          6  it's a fun way of actually allowing the children to

          7  come to their own conclusions about nutrition issues

          8  that are affecting them and their community and

          9  their country.

         10                 In closing, I would like to thank the

         11  New York City Council Health Committee for your

         12  attention to the nutrition and health of New

         13  Yorkers.  Though the rising rates of obesity and its

         14  health complications are sobering and of great

         15  concern, we believe that through coordinated action

         16  the trends can be slowed.  We're trying to

         17  coordinate our largely private base of project

         18  resources with city and state public resources to

         19  better combat childhood obesity.

         20                 In closing I just want to say that

         21  all New Yorkers have the right to lead healthy lives

         22  and all New Yorkers have the right to sufficient,

         23  wholesome and nutritious foods.  Thank you.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Thank you very

         25  much.
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          2                 Council Member Mendez had wanted to

          3  make the point that there is also a problem in many

          4  of our schools that no longer have gymnasiums

          5  because they've been converted to classroom use and

          6  those schools which still have inadequate

          7  gymnasiums.  So, that continues to be a problem.  I

          8  did want to address one of the suggestions- by the

          9  way, I want to know where you can get those two for

         10  one dollar, those cakes.

         11                 But, the advertising in the stores is

         12  an issue that we have tried to deal with through

         13  legislation in the City Council not necessarily

         14  related to junk- food advertising but as it relates

         15  to cigarette advertising.  We had a bill in the City

         16  Council that I actually had sponsored that would

         17  have prohibited cigarette advertisements posted

         18  within three feet of the floor level. Cigarette

         19  advertisements in the vicinity of candy shelves and

         20  other kinds of snack racks.  Obviously that's

         21  because- there's just no reason why anybody would

         22  have to advertise cigarettes in a place where it's

         23  difficult for adults to see but yet it'll be in the

         24  plain sight of the youngest children.  Apparently,

         25  there were some constitutional issues with that so,
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          2  if the Department of Health or anybody else has any

          3  ideas on how to get around that I would certainly

          4  love to push forth with that legislation.  Again,

          5  it's just advertising that really only affects the

          6  smallest kids and I just find it absurd that there's

          7  just nothing we can do to prohibit that kind of

          8  advertising.

          9                 So I would think the same kinds of

         10  issues would also pertain to advertising of junk

         11  foods and other undesirable goodies. I didn't mean

         12  to call it goodies, I mean undesirable evils.

         13                 I so appreciate your testimony.

         14  Especially the testimony with regard to obesity and

         15  it's link with hunger. Generally speaking, people

         16  don't think of those two terms in the same light and

         17  yet the point is very well taken and that point

         18  needs to- I think everyone should be made much more

         19  aware that obesity, in many cases, is directly

         20  linked to hunger and it's inability to establish a

         21  good eating habit.

         22                 What you hadn't mentioned, though, is

         23  that sometimes the morning breakfast in the schools

         24  might be served too early.  It seems that- I don't

         25  know what else we could do in the schools though.
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          2  Because it's hard to imagine- see, once you drop

          3  your child off at school, that's it.  You can go to

          4  work.  So, if they were serving breakfast or

          5  allowing the child to get to school no earlier than

          6  a certain time, I can imagine that being a problem.

          7  But, to say that the parents should drop off their

          8  child twenty minutes ahead of time which I think is

          9  generally the case, that doesn't seem to be an

         10  impediment to working mothers or working parents.

         11  So, enlighten me as to what the problem there really

         12  is.

         13                 MS. DUGGAN:  She has the solution, I

         14  have the problem.  Over 22% of people who rely on

         15  emergency food programs are single women with

         16  children.  They themselves report that it is

         17  difficult to drop their kids off for school

         18  breakfast because many of them are working two jobs.

         19    Their schedules are extremely tight. They're

         20  looking after more than one child and their

         21  schedules are so rigid that they can only get kids

         22  to school at a certain time. Coupled with that are

         23  transportation issues.  They don't necessarily have

         24  flexibility.  They may be relying on a neighbor to

         25  take the kids to school at a particular time.  So,
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          2  it's a coupling of different factors but the vast

          3  majority of them report that it's very difficult to

          4  get the children to school early.

          5                 MS. GARTLAN:  I just want to add a

          6  model in the Philadelphia area, actually, which was

          7  found to be very effective of school breakfast

          8  programs.  Essentially what they did is they had a

          9  breakfast cart that came around and the children

         10  were actually- it was almost like a pre- paid so

         11  they were given tokens and they were able to

         12  purchase the food right from the cart.  So, somebody

         13  would actually come to their classroom, much as you

         14  mentioned in a homeroom setting or something like

         15  that.  The cart would come in, the kids would

         16  purchase, you know, the cereal or the milk or

         17  whatever they wanted and then they were able to go

         18  on.  So, it was backed by the school in that they

         19  allowed this to occur but what really came out of it

         20  is then it became cool.  Everybody wanted breakfast

         21  from the breakfast cart.  The children who were

         22  receiving free breakfast, there was no stigma

         23  attached.  They had the same tokens that every other

         24  child had in the school so it just became an

         25  effective model.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Alright.  Thank

          3  you very much.

          4  You know, by the way, I'm thinking back to my own

          5  days in school and- not that I ever engaged in it-

          6  but some of us use to actually sell our free meal

          7  tickets.  I wasn't aware that the stigma was as

          8  heavy as it really is but, maybe I was just a geek.

          9  I don't know.

         10                 Well, thank you very much for your

         11  testimony.  I want to thank the public for joining

         12  us in this afternoon's hearing.

         13

         14                 There being no other testimony today,

         15  this hearing of the City Council's Committee on

         16  health is adjourned.

         17                 (Hearing concluded at 3:16 p.m.)
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